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ubrizol was founded by six men with a good idea, an idea that set the stage

for every Lubrizol product that followed. From the beginning, we recognized

a problem, used technology to solve it and developed a product that was

better than anything else available. Then, we found a way to make it easy

for our customers to use. The result of that first idea was a product called

Lubri-Graph. Designed to eliminate the squeak caused by the leaf springs

in early model cars, it was sold with a 10-gallon pressurized drum dispenser

that made it easy to apply. That combination of chemicals and equipment was

our first performance system. Lubrizol continued to grow, expanding globally

and into new product areas. Today, Lubrizol is a $1.7 billion fluid technology

company concentrating on high performance chemicals, systems and services

for industry and transportation. Our future success is based on the most

valuable lesson of our past. Whatever the industry, whatever the application,

we use technology to solve problems, develop the best product or system

available and dedicate our efforts to reducing the burden on our customers.

e begin a new century by redefining Lubrizol. Tomorrow's company will be

different from the one we know today. That's the way it should be. The chemicals,

services and systems our customers will need for the future are being designed

right now by some of the best minds in the industry. Lubrizol products can

be found in a variety of markets, including coatings, inks, compressor lubricants

and metalworking fluids. Were also combining the expertise of our equipment-

related businesses with chemicals for transportation and industry to provide

integrated solutions for lubrication or environmental problems. Throughout

much of our history, the words Lubrizol product have been synonymous

with chemical additive. Over the years, as we've put chemistry to work for us,

we've gained a unique understanding of research, testing and equipment. As a

company, we've developed new ways to manufacture and distribute products

around the globe. We know how to combine components to solve problems.

And we understand that, while each of these elements is important what really

matters is how they work together. We've moved beyond additive chemistry

to fluid technology, a concept that will characterize Lubrizol products for the

next century. Redefining a company isn't easy. Changing the way you think

about yourself never is. Fortunately, we're ready. With the solid foundation

of our past, hard work here in the present and innovative thinking about our

future, were more than equal to the challenge.
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• Dividends per share

WORLDWIDE BY ZONE
51,748.0 million in revenues

WORLDWIDE BY PRODUCT
51,748.0 million in revenues

North America

• Europe, Middle East

N Asia Pacific

▪ Latin America

The Lubrizol Corporation

The Lubrizol Corporation

Financial Highlights

On Millions Except Per Share and Employee Data) 1999
Increase

1998	 (Decrease)

OPERATIONS:

Revenues 	 $1,748.0 $1,617.9 8%

Net income 	 123.0 71.2 73%

Net income before special charges

and litigation gains 	 125.3 86.5 45%

Net income per share 	 2.25 1.27 77%

Net income per share before special charges

and litigation gains	 	 2.30 1.55 48%

Dividends per share	 	 1.04 1.04

Cash provided from operating activities 	 	 289.0 155.2 86%

Return on shareholders' equity before

special charges and litigation gains 	 16% 11%

FINANCIAL POSITION:

Total assets	 	 $1,682.4 $1,643.2 2%

Shareholders' equity 	 790.1 769.1 3%

Debt as a percent of capitalization 	 	 34% 36%

OTHER:

Capital expenditures 	 $	 64.9 $	 93.4 (31%)

Shares outstanding at December 31	 	 54.5 54.5

Number of employees 	 4,074 4,324 (6%)

COMMON SHARE PRICE HISTORY

1999 1998

High Low High Low

1st quarter	 	 	 $267/8 $18 $403/16 $331/4

2nd quarter 	 	 303/4 213/8 383/4 301/4

3rd quarter 	 	 291 1/1 6	 243/8 323/8 223/8

4th quarter 	 	 313/8 23 299/16 231/2

Engine Oil Additives

III Driveline Oil Additives
42%

•	 Fuel Products

Additive Components 33%

•	 Chemicals for Industry
18%

7%



As indicated by Lubrizol's 1999 results, we have achieved substantial improvement in the operational

and financial performance of our business. Earnings per share, before special items, increased 48 percent,

cash flow from operating activities increased from $155 million in 1998 to $289 million in 1999 and return

on shareholders' equity, before special items, increased from 10.9 percent in 1998 to 16.1 percent in 1999.

Lubrizol's revenues grew 8 percent to a record $1.75 billion, and the company's product shipments increased

5 percent for the year when acquisitions are excluded. Net  income in 1999, excluding unusual items, was

$125.3 million, or $2.30 per share.

Reviewing 1999 reveals a significant list of accomplishments. We implemented a new commercial organ-

ization, value proposition and operating model in our chemicals for transportation business to be better able

to serve our customers. Lubrizol's acquisition of Adibis was completely integrated into our operations ahead

of plan and under budget. We successfully introduced advanced new heavy-duty diesel engine oil technology

into the marketplace, and our chemicals for industry business delivered strong performance in several areas,

including AMPS '9 Monomer, surfactants and compressor lubricants. This was the year we defined and imple-

mented new performance systems initiatives, announcing an alliance with General Electric Transportation

Systems to market Lubrizol's FluiPak - technology for fluid management in locomotive and mining

applications. We also announced a relationship with Caterpillar, Inc. for the testing and endorsement of

Lubrizol's new PuriN0x - low emission, water blend fuel product.

Our position in Asia-Pacific continued to grow as we worked to establish a joint venture in China, and

we made progress on our Lubrizol India restructuring. Shipments to customers in that region increased

16 percent in 1999. In 2000, we will be expanding our new globally integrated management information sys-

tem into Asia-Pacific, which follows the successful implementation of this system in Europe in 1999. We also

implemented a new consolidated services function in Europe to replace the previous separate facility groups.

The first phase of our cost reduction initiative was completed in 1999, and further reductions were

announced which will be completed by the end of 2000. Total operating expenses in 1999 increased only

3 percent, and all of the increase was attributable to acquisitions. Costs in 1999 included $4 million for Y2K

preparations, and we successfully transitioned into 2000 with no Y2K issues. Complexity reduction has been
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success
will depend

on correctly

envisioning
the future.'

z

integrated into our operations and is achieving significant cost savings. Finally, we are particularly pleased

to report that, in 1999, we achieved practice-in-place for all six codes of the Responsible Care ® program and

are working with the Chemical Manufacturers Association to establish new goals to continue our progress

in environmental, safety and health matters.

Our successes in 1999 were gratifying and encouraging, but there is much more to be done to achieve

the vision of Lubrizol beyond 2000. We must grow our fluid technology knowledge into new product offerings

and new applications. We are just beginning to supplement our traditional chemical products with systems

and services that our customers will need and value in the future. Our chemicals for transportation

business is changing, and we continue to implement a new approach to better serve our customers. Our

chemicals for industry business is benefiting from additional focus as we intensify our acquisition efforts to

grow in new areas. At the same time, Lubrizol's cost reduction initiatives are firmly established to be able

to maintain efficiency and productivity gains.

While this is an appropriate time to pause briefly to honor the past, our success will depend upon

correctly envisioning the future. We are committed to doing this, to growing our revenues significantly

beyond current levels and to once again achieving 10 percent per year growth in earnings per share. As we

enter 2000, we are optimistic about our ability to continue to grow our revenue and earnings and to

maintain our momentum in improving shareholder value.
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Every decade has its challenges. In the 1930s, the science of additives for transportation was in its infancy.

During the war years, the needs of the military drove the demand for new technology. The 1970s saw the energy

crisis. And in the 1990s, the environment took center stage as a global concern. We've only begun to speculate

on what 2010 or 2020 will bring, but we're fortunate that our problem-solving culture allows us to anticipate

what our customers will need — before they need it.
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"As a research chemist,

my work centers around

getting molecules to work

together in new and different

ways. No one understands

how to do that as well as

Lubrizol. Our chemistry is

as new as tomorrow, but

our tradition of combining

components to solve problems

goes back to the roots

of the company"

— Kathleen Havelka
Manager of Application Technology

4111k.

4111.

. Lubrizol's traditional strength has always been in research and development. Using both knowledge and

creativity, we combine components to develop solutions to some of industry's most complex problems. Over the

years, we've been able to build on that strength, expanding beyond chemicals for transportation into new and

varied industries. Technology is both our tradition and our future. We continue to meet the demands of the

world market by effectively applying technology to improve operating efficiency, extend equipment life and

minimize environmental impact.



Innovation is the science of "what if." First we ask the questions:

What if the design of the internal combustion engine changes radically? What if water and fuel really do

mix, resulting in reduced emissions? Can we monitor fluids on board a vehicle, predicting problems before they
become problems? What if we could develop metalworking fluids that are safer for workers? What will our

customers need 5, 10 or even 25 years from now? How do we evolve to meet those needs?



"Every upgrade to passenger car or

heavy-duty diesel engine oil specifications

raises the bar for us. We've only begun

to tap the potential of viscosity modifiers

engine performance. Our years of experience

and our knowledge of rheology enable us

to develop innovative production methods

to meet specific performance targets."

— Jeff Cash
Global Business Manager, Viscosity Modifiers

Then, we look to our innovators to find the answers we need. In most cases, the answers can be found in the

right mix of chemicals, services and systems. By expanding our core knowledge in new areas, we are able to find

solutions for some of the market's most pressing problems. One such problem, emissions and emission control,

will be with us well into the next century. Engine design, emission control systems, additives, finished fluids and

fuels will all be part of the answer. Making the most effective use of all of these components will be the

challenge. It may require new technology, new equipment and even new software. It will certainly require the

best efforts of our innovators. For most of our history, Lubrizol has developed and marketed some of the world's

best chemical products. In the future, we will need to develop and market the products of our knowledge.



Our complexity reduction

initiative is helping us to make

better use of our resources.

By concentrating our efforts

on a core group of high quality

components, we're better able

to get our customers what

they need, when they need it.

That's good for our customers

and good for Lubrizol."

— John White
Maintenance Supervisor

Deer Park, Texas

Lubrizol chemical products all have one thing in common. They do their work in the molecular world, wher-

ever surfaces interact. It doesn't matter whether the surfaces are the parts of a diesel engine or paint on a wall.

Lubrizol chemicals are designed to slip between them, helping things to work better. Lubrizol chemicals enhance

performance. They improve the operating efficiency of equipment and extend its useful life. For our customers,

that means lower maintenance costs and less unscheduled downtime. As a result, they make the most of their

investment, favorably impacting their business.



Improving performance and extending equipment life is one part of the equation. The other is the increased

demand placed on chemical manufacturers by environmental regulations and worker health and safety. These

are top priorities in all of our markets, so they are top priorities for us. In addition to improving operating

efficiency, Lubrizol chemicals also reduce harmful emissions. They extend the useful life of performance fluids,

which results in less waste fluid for disposal. Our anti-mist technologies, with applications in metalworking, coat-

ings and inks and the transportation industry, help keep work environments cleaner and safer and save energy

and maintenance costs. We expect a lot from our chemistry and it delivers. As we continue to streamline our

production processes, simplify our product line and reduce manufacturing costs, we're confident that we will be

•ble to provide solutions to the future's most complex challenge
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"Our future success
depends on providing our

• customers with more for less.
To accomplish this, we need to put
our knowledge to work for them.

Our e-Business, shared services
and our globally integrated

management information system
will make it faster and easier
to do business with Lubrizol.

Providing services like
manufacturing and testing on an

as-needed basis will give our
customers choices and help

reduce their costs."

— Mark Sutherland
e-Business Manager

• Throughout our history, we've constantly refined the concept of service with the goal of making it easier for

r customers to do business. As both Lubrizol and the marketplace continue to evolve, we've begun to look at

the idea of service in a whole new way. Our traditional customers want options. Our new customers need us to

ind innovative ways to make our skills work for them. As we begin the new century, we've begun to evaluate

he best way to make our services available.



Lubrizol's e-Business offers us the opportunity to improve the way we interact with our customers while

reducing our cost to serve. In 1999, Lubrizol became the first company in the additive industry to use Internet

technology to provide North American customers with online ordering capability. While this service is still in its

early stages, we anticipate that it will continue to expand, becoming a vital part of the way we do business.

As our initiatives to streamline our operations begin to take hold, other service opportunities are becoming

obvious. For example, we're experimenting with offering our manufacturing, testing and research expertise to

the marketplace on a fee-per-project basis.

We know that our technical knowledge and decades of experience are an invaluable asset. Our goal is

to make that asset available to the marketplace in the way that best serves our customers and Lubrizol.
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Reducing the burden of operation is the driving force behind most Lubrizol products. As we realized from

the very beginning, no one wants a car that squeaks, or a truck that breaks down, or paint that drips, or an

engine that violates emissions requirements. Sometimes chemistry is enough to solve the problem, but

sometimes it isn't. That's why we're dedicating our efforts to developing systems that provide comprehensive

olutions to some very challenging problems.

One of the things generations of problem solving has taught us is that the best solutions result when all of

. the elements are designed to work together from the beginning. Our systems integrate equipment, chemicals

and technology to provide new ways of solving today's most pressing lubrication or environmental challenges.



"We create outstanding products

for refrigeration compressor applications

by combining synthetic and semi-synthetic

lubricants with the most advanced additives

in the business. We know that the best way

to help our customers is to reduce the burden

involved in equipment operation. That's why

they can count on our products to lower

maintenance costs, decrease downtime and

ensure consistent system performance.

— John To/fa
President, CPI Engineering

# 0440

In some cases, we're pooling our expertise with other companies, like GE Transportation Systems, our alliance

partner for FluiPakTM technology, which is designed to manage critical fluids for locomotive and mining

applications. We also have a contractual relationship with Caterpillar, Inc. for the testing and endorsement of

Lubrizol's PuriNOxTM Performance Systems technology, which is a low emission, water blend fuel product com-

bining additive chemistry with a specialized blend unit.

Unexpected downtime costs our customers time and money. Even scheduled maintenance can be costly.

Lubrizol systems are reducing that burden by protecting against asset failure and preventing problems before

they happen. It's almost three quarters of a century since we developed Lubri-Graph, our first performance

system, but we still recognize a good idea when we see one.
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The Lubrizol Corporation

Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The Lubrizol Corporation is a fluid technology company con-

centrating on high performance chemicals, systems and services

for transportation and industry. We develop, produce and sell

specialty additive packages and related equipment used in

transportation and industrial finished lubricants. We create our

products through the application of advanced chemical and

mechanical technologies to enhance the performance, quality

and value of the customer products in which they are used. We

group our product lines into two operating segments: chemi-

cals for transportation and chemicals for industry. Chemicals for

transportation comprised approximately 83% of our consoli-

dated revenues and 87% of segment pre-tax operating profit in

1999. This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and

results of operations is generally focused on the company as a

whole since we believe this provides the most appropriate

understanding of our business. Note 12 to the financial state-

ments contains a further description of the nature of our oper-

ations, the product lines within each of the operating segments

and related financial disclosures.

In 1999, we continued to pursue our strategies to expand into

new market areas, grow revenues and improve cost structure.

We believe that the global growth rate for lubricant additives

is approximately 1% per year. Due to changing industry market

forces, such as improved engine design and longer drain inter-

vals, we do not expect the annual growth rate to exceed 1% in

the future. However, our 1999 shipment volume increased by

9% over 1998 due to acquisitions made during 1998, improve-

ment in the economies in the Asia-Pacific region and new busi-

ness in North America.

We also have continued implementation of various short- and

long-term initiatives relating to our cost structure, such as con-

solidation of component production and simplification of prod-

uct lines, to enhance further our competitiveness and market

leadership position. In response to market and industry condi-

tions, we began an initiative in November 1998 to reduce costs

and improve our worldwide operating structure. The first

phase of this initiative, which was completed by December 31,

1999, included the reorganization of our commercial structure,

changes in work processes using our new globally integrated

management information system, the shutdown of some pro-

duction units and the consolidation of some facilities and

offices. We achieved savings of approximately $24 million in

1999 related to the first phase of this initiative. A second phase,

which was announced in the third quarter of 1999, involves pri-

marily the downsizing of our Painesville, Ohio manufacturing

facility. These actions are discussed under the caption "Cost

Reduction Program and Related Special Charges" and in Note

15 to the financial statements.

Acquisitions are an important part of our strategy to strength-

en our business position and expand into new markets, even

though only a small acquisition was made during 1999. We con-

tinue to actively pursue acquisitions during 2000, with particu-

lar focus on our chemicals for industry business.

1999 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In 1999, we achieved record

consolidated revenues of $1.75

billion, which represented an

increase of $130.1 million, or 8%

(3% excluding acquisitions) as

compared with 1998. The primary

factor causing the increase in rev-

() enues from the prior year was a

9% increase in our shipment vol-

ume (5% excluding acquisitions). Our average selling price

declined 2% as compared with 1998, all of which was due to

lower product pricing and changing product mix. Chemicals for

transportation revenues increased $87.7 million, or 6%, over

1998. Approximately two-thirds of the increase was due to our

1998 acquisition of Adibis. Chemicals for industry revenues

increased $42.4 million, or 17%, over 1998. Approximately one-

half of the increase was due to acquisitions, primarily our

acquisition of Carroll Scientific, Inc.

The increase in 1999 shipment volume, excluding acquisitions,

was attributable to North America and Asia-Pacific. Shipment

volume to North American customers increased 13% primarily

due to new business awarded at the end of 1998 and in 1999.

Shipments to Asia-Pacific customers in 1999, excluding acquisi-

tions, increased 14% compared to 1998 primarily due to the

economic improvement in the region. Shipments to European

and Latin American customers in 1999, excluding acquisitions,

decreased 4% and 10% respectively, due primarily to sluggish

economies with some business loss. We believe consolidated

1999 results benefited from some advance buying in late 1999

related to Year 2000 concerns, and customer purchases in

advance of an announced price increase. A number of the fac-

tors that contributed to the strong volume growth in 1999

may not be present in 2000, and we believe that volume in

2000 (excluding acquisitions) is likely to be approximately the

same as 1999.

Cost of sales for 1999, including acquisitions, increased 5%

reflecting higher shipment levels partially offset by lower aver-

age raw material cost compared with 1998. On a sequential

basis, we experienced a 4% increase in average raw material

cost during the third quarter and an additional 2% increase

REVENUES (millions)
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The Lubrizol Corporation

during the fourth quarter, as a result of higher crude oil pricing

and its downstream effect. In November 1999, we announced a

global price increase ranging from 3% to 7% depending on

the product group, to recover the increasing raw material cost.

The price increase, which was effective December 15, 1999, was

successful and we believe it will result in an average increase of

4% to 4.5% when fully implemented. We began to see the

impact on revenues in the first quarter of 2000 and anticipate

the full impact will be felt by the end of the second quarter.

We continue to experience material cost increases in the first

quarter of 2000, and further price increases will be necessary to

enable us to maintain our margins. Manufacturing costs,

included in cost of sales, increased 7% (3% excluding acquisi-

tions) in 1999 compared to 1998.

Gross profit (net sales less cost of sales) increased $67.4 million,

or 14%, in 1999 compared with 1998. Excluding acquisitions,

gross profit increased $50.3 million, or 10%, in 1999 compared

with 1998. Most of the increase was due to higher volume and

the impact of lower average raw material cost partially offset

by lower average selling price.

Additionally, $10 million of the

increased gross profit was due
500 to the impact on cost of sales of
400 favorable changes in currency

300 exchange rates. Of the total

200
	 gross profit increase, $54.1 mil-

lion was attributable to chemi-
100	

cals for transportation and $13.3

	° million was attributable to chem-
95 96 97 98 99 

icals for industry. This represent-

ed a 14% increase for each operating segment. Acquisitions

accounted for one-fourth of the chemicals for transportation

increase and one-half of the chemicals for industry increase,

and the remainder was due to the factors noted above.

The gross profit percentage (gross profit divided by net sales)

improved to 31.5% for 1999 as compared with 29.8% for 1998

for the same reasons as discussed above. In addition, the 1998

gross profit percentage was unusually low as explained in the

discussion of 1998 results of operations. The gross profit per-

centages for chemicals for transportation and chemicals for

industry were 30.6% and 35.4%, respectively, compared to

28.6% and 36.1% in 1998.

Selling and administrative expenses increased by $1.5 million,

or 1%, in 1999 compared with 1998. Excluding acquisitions, sell-

ing and administrative expenses decreased $4.4 million, or 2%,

in 1999 due to lower legal expenses, efficiencies from the inte-

gration of Adibis, lower pension costs, reduced spending on

our global enterprise-wide management information system

and favorable currency effects. These factors were partially off-

set by higher variable pay and costs associated with "Year

2000" compliance activities.

Research, testing and development expenses (technology

expenses) decreased $5.1 million, or 3%, in 1999 compared

with 1998. Excluding acquisitions, technology expenses

decreased $8.3 million, or 6%. Product standards change peri-

odically to meet new emissions, efficiency, durability and other

performance factors as engine and transmission designs are

improved by equipment manufacturers. These changes influ-

ence the timing and amount of technology expense. Approx-

imately 80% of our technology cost is incurred in company-

owned facilities and 20% is
RESEARCH TESTING
& DEVELOPMENT (millions) 

5200	
incurred at third-party testing

facilities. The reduction in tech-

11111

	 , 50 nology expenses was achieved,

50 

in part, by reduced spending in

100 1999 for engine tests conducted

at third party facilities. In addi-

tion, an industry delay in the

effective date of the proposed

° new U.S. passenger car motor oil

technical standard, GF-3, has

resulted in a deferral of related testing activities. This delay,

along with savings generated from the first phase of our cost

reduction program implemented in late 1998, also contributed

to lower technical expenses in 1999 compared with 1998. We

believe technical spending will increase by about 5% in 2000

because of the anticipated GF-3 testing requirements.

Primarily as a result of the factors previously discussed, consoli-

dated revenues increased $72.0 million more than the increase

in total costs and expenses in 1999.

We recorded special charges for the year of $19.6 million ($13.2

million after-tax or $.24 per share) relating to both phases of

our cost reduction program. These special charges are discussed

under the caption "Cost Reduction Program and Related Spe-

cial Charges" below and in Note 15 to the financial statements.

On March 31, 1999 Lubrizol and Exxon Corporation reached a

settlement of all pending intellectual property litigation

between the two companies and their affiliates, except for liti-

gation pending in Canada. Under the settlement agreement,

Exxon paid us cash of $16.8 million in April 1999. After deduct-

ing related expenses, this settlement increased 1999 pre-tax

income by $14.5 million ($9.0 million after-tax or $.16 per

share). Further information regarding our litigation with Exxon

is contained in Note 16 to the financial statements. Additionally,

15



The Lubrizol Corporation

we recorded a pre-tax gain of $3.1 million ($1.9 million after-

tax or $.04 per share) in the fourth quarter for the settlement

of litigation unrelated to Exxon.

The change in other income (expense) unfavorably affected

1999 pre-tax income by $5.6 million compared with 1998. The

change resulted primarily from higher goodwill amortization

related to acquisitions made in the second half of 1998, and

higher currency translation and transaction losses, principally

in Brazil, partially offset by higher equity earnings of affiliat-

ed companies.

Interest expense increased $8.6 million in 1999 compared with

1998, principally because of higher borrowings necessitated by

the acquisitions made during the second half of 1998 and 1998

share repurchases.

While changes in the dollar value of foreign currencies will

affect earnings from time to time, the longer-term economic

effect of these changes should not be significant given our net

asset exposure, currency mix and use of U.S. dollar-based pric-

ing in certain countries. As the U.S. dollar strengthens or weak-

ens against other international currencies in which we transact

business, our financial results will be affected. Changes in cur-

rency exchange rates during 1999 had a favorable effect on net

income per share of $.07 for the year as compared to exchange

rates in effect during 1998. This was primarily a result of the

weakening of the U.S. dollar against the Japanese yen, partially

offset by a strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the pound

sterling and other currencies.

As a result of the factors discussed above, income before

income taxes increased by $76.5 million, or 64%, over 1998.

After excluding from both years the special charges and the

gains from litigation settlements, income before income taxes

increased by $57.8 million, or 41%, over 1998. Segment operat-

ing profit before tax, which excludes interest expense,

increased $61.5 million, or 47%, for chemicals for transporta-

tion, and increased $4.9 million, or 22%, for chemicals for

industry, as compared to 1998.

The effective tax rate on 1999 income, before litigation gains

and special charges, decreased to 36.5% as compared with

38.0% in 1998. This decrease, which increased 1999 earnings

before these items by $.05 per share, was primarily due to

improvement in the profitability of certain foreign subsidiaries

with loss carryforwards, a reduction in the amount of non-

deductible translation losses at certain foreign subsidiaries, and

a significant increase in pre-tax profit which diluted the effect

of non-deductible items.

Net income in 1999 was $123.0 million, or $2.25 per share. In

1998, net income was $71.2 million, or $1.27 per share. After

excluding from 1999 and 1998 the special charges and the gains

from litigation settlements, net income in 1999 was $125.3 mil-

lion, as compared to $86.5 million in 1998, an increase of 45%.

On this same basis, 1999 net income per share was $2.30, an

increase of 48% over the $1.55 per share earned in 1998.

COST REDUCTION PROGRAM AND RELATED
SPECIAL CHARGES

We initiated a series of steps in 1998 to reduce costs and

improve our worldwide operating structure and are executing

these steps in two phases over a period approximating two

years. The first phase, which began in the fourth quarter of

1998, resulted in the reduction of approximately 7% of our

workforce, or 300 employees, at both domestic and interna-

tional locations. Approximately 55% of this reduction occurred

by December 31, 1998, a further 35% occurred in the first quar-

ter of 1999 and the remainder was substantially completed by

the end of the third quarter of 1999. Of the 300 employees,

approximately 40% were in the manufacturing area and 60%

were in the selling, administrative, research and testing areas.

In addition, we permanently removed seven component pro-

duction units from service during this first phase.

We recorded a special charge of $23.3 million in the fourth

quarter of 1998 for the cost directly associated with this first

phase of the cost reduction program. In the first quarter of

1999, we recognized additional expense of $3.1 million ($2.9

million after-tax or $.05 per share) to reflect a greater amount

for separation benefits, principally in Japan. In the fourth quar-

ter of 1999, an adjustment was made to reduce the special

charge by $4.3 million ($2.5 million after-tax or $.05 per share)

to reflect the settlement gain recorded as a result of settling

employee pension obligations and other accrual adjustments.

As adjusted, first phase employee severance costs approximated

$20.0 million of the total charge of $22.1 million and other exit

costs approximated $2.1 million, virtually all of which related to

asset impairments for component production units taken out of

service. We spent approximately $5.0 million and $14.7 million

in 1998 and 1999, respectively, related to this phase of the cost

reduction program. We estimate annualized savings of $28 mil-

lion, of which approximately $24 million was achieved in 1999.

The second phase of our cost reduction program, which began

in the third quarter of 1999, involves primarily the downsizing

of our Painesville, Ohio manufacturing plant. This will result in

the additional reduction of approximately 5% of our work-
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force, or 200 employees, and the shutdown of 23 of

Painesville's 36 production systems. Through December 31,

1999, we have shut down 12 of the 23 targeted production sys-

tems and have completed approximately 22% of the anticipat-

ed workforce reduction. We expect the remainder of the sys-

tem shut downs and workforce reduction to occur by the end

of 2000. After restructuring, the Painesville plant will continue

to operate as a producer of small volume specialized intermedi-

ates and as a blender of certain additive packages.

We recorded a special charge of $20.8 million ($12.9 million

after-tax or $.24 per share) in the third quarter of 1999 relating

to this second phase of our cost reduction program. Employee

severance costs are $8.5 million of the charge and other exit

costs are $12.3 million, including $8.9 million related to asset

impairment for component production units to be taken out of

service. We spent approximately $1.3 million in 1999 related to

this phase of the cost reduction program, and we expect to

spend $10.6 million in 2000. Additionally, we will spend

approximately $8 million of capital to transfer a portion of the

Painesville capacity to our Deer Park, Texas plant. We expect to

achieve annual savings of $20 million following completion of

these actions in the latter part of 2000.

1998 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In 1998, the continuing weak business environment of the

lubricant additives industry and poor economic conditions in

Asia-Pacific and Latin America negatively impacted the finan-

cial results for the year, particularly during the second half of

the year. Despite acquisitions contributing 5% to consolidated

revenues during 1998, annual revenues declined 3% as com-

pared with 1997. Lower average selling prices combined with

relatively level material costs compressed profit margins. In

addition, higher interest expense and a higher effective tax

rate each contributed to 1998 earnings being significantly

lower than 1997 earnings.

Consolidated revenues for 1998 of $1.62 billion decreased $55.9

million, or 3%, as compared with the then-record 1997 annual

revenues of $1.67 billion. The primary factors causing the

decline in revenues from 1997 were lower average selling

prices and lower pre-acquisition volume, which more than off-

set the year-over-year incremental revenues from acquisitions.

Excluding acquisitions, sales volume declined by 4% for 1998

and by 10% for the second half of 1998 as compared with the

comparable 1997 periods. The 1998 average selling price

declined 5% as compared with 1997, of which 75% was due to

lower product pricing and changing product mix and 25% was

due to currency. The year-over-year increase in revenues from

acquisitions was $81.2 million, of which $38.0 million pertained

to chemicals for transportation and $43.2 million pertained to

chemicals for industry.

The slowing of lubricant additive demand in virtually all geo-

graphic areas during 1998 and the economic conditions in

Asia-Pacific caused difficult comparisons against 1997, a year

in which we achieved record revenues and sales volume.

Although sales volume in 1998 was flat with 1997, excluding

acquisitions, sales volume declined 4%. On this same basis,

sales volume to customers in North America during 1998 was

level with 1997, but declined 7% to international customers.

For the 1998 second half compared with the same period of

1997, sales volume (excluding acquisitions) decreased 3% to

customers in North America and decreased 15% to internation-

al customers.

The economic difficulties in the Asia-Pacific region had an

accelerating, unfavorable effect on our 1998 results. Products

shipped to customers in Asia-Pacific are manufactured primarily

in production facilities in the United States and comprised

approximately 16% and 19% of our revenues in 1998 and 1997,

respectively. Sales volume to customers in Asia-Pacific during

the first half of 1998 declined by only 1% as compared with the

first half of 1997, but declined by 21% in the 1998 second half

as compared with the 1997 second half. Lower sales volume

into Asia-Pacific was the primary reason that overall sales

volume declined in 1998. Asia-Pacific revenues declined by $53

million, or 17%, for the year 1998 and by $40 million, or 24%,

for the second half of 1998 as compared with the respective

1997 periods. Some forward buying during the second half of

1997 by customers in Asia-Pacific in a reaction to worsening

economic conditions exacerbated the comparison with 1998.

Cost of sales for the full year 1998, including acquisitions,

increased only 1% over 1997 as sales volume, average material

unit costs and manufacturing costs remained relatively con-

stant between the comparable periods. Average material unit

costs declined less than 1% from 1997. Our manufacturing costs

do not fluctuate significantly with changes in production vol-

ume. The effects of our ongoing manufacturing rationalization

program and other cost management initiatives helped keep

manufacturing costs level as compared with the prior year,

despite a $12.2 million increase from acquisitions.
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Gross profit (net sales less cost of sales) decreased $64.4 million,

or 12%, in 1998 compared with 1997. Excluding acquisitions,

gross profit declined $82.3 million, or 15%, in 1998 compared

with 1997. Gross profit decreased $30.2 million, or 11%, ($35.3

million, or 13%, excluding acquisitions) in the first half of 1998

and decreased $34.2 million, or 13%, ($47.0 million, or 18%,

excluding acquisitions) in the second half of 1998 compared

with the same 1997 periods. The decrease in gross profit for

each of the respective periods was primarily due to the decline

in selling prices and, in the second half of 1998, also due to the

lower sales volume. The $17.9 million increase in gross profit

contributed from acquisitions made in 1998 was partially offset

by unfavorable currency effects of $7.4 million.

The gross profit percentage (gross profit divided by net sales)

was 29.8% for 1998 as compared with 32.7% for 1997. This

decrease in gross profit percentage was attributable to the

lower average selling price as well as the unfavorable effect on

per unit manufacturing costs resulting from lower production

levels, particularly in the fourth quarter of 1998. In addition,

the gross profit percentage of 27.6% in the fourth quarter of

1998 reflected a $4.3 million inventory write down primarily

due to a change in a customer product specification.

Selling and administrative expenses increased by $8.5 million,

or 5%, in 1998 compared with 1997. Excluding acquisitions,

selling and administrative expenses were $1.5 million, or 1%,

lower compared with 1997. Selling and administrative expenses

in 1998 reflected increased spending of $11.3 million related to

the implementation of the new enterprise-wide, management

information system, but this was more than offset by lower

variable pay expense, lower litigation expense and other cost

reductions.

Research, testing and development expenses (technology

expenses) increased $4.3 million, or 3%, in 1998 compared with

1997. Excluding acquisitions, technology expenses declined $1.9

million, or 1%, from 1997. During 1998, approximately 80% of

our technology cost was incurred in company-owned facilities

and 20% was incurred at third-party testing facilities. Testing

expenses incurred at third party testing facilities increased $5.5

million in 1998 over 1997 primarily due to a new performance

specification for heavy-duty engine oils. Our technology

expense in 1998, as well as in 1997, included costs related to

new performance specifications for heavy-duty engine oils,

which were introduced into the market in late 1998, and new

performance specifications for passenger car engine oils

expected to become effective during 2000.

Primarily as a result of the factors previously discussed, the

change in revenues together with the change in total costs and

expenses unfavorably affected our pre-tax profits by $78.4 mil-

lion for the full year 1998 and by $45.3 million for the second

half of 1998 as compared with respective 1997 periods.

In the fourth quarter of 1998, we recorded special charges

aggregating $36.9 million. These special charges related to the

first phase of our cost reduction program, which amounted to

$23.3 million, and the write-off of $13.6 million of purchased

technology under development originating from the Adibis

acquisition. After-tax, these special charges reduced 1998 net

income by $25.8 million, or $.47 per share.

On April 23, 1998, we reached a settlement with Exxon Corpo-

ration of a lawsuit pending in federal court in Ohio and we

received cash of $19 million from Exxon. The pre-tax gain from

this litigation settlement, net of related expenses, was $16.2

million. After-tax, the litigation settlement increased net

income by $10.5 million, or $.19 per share. Further information

regarding our litigation with Exxon is contained in Note 16 to

the financial statements.

The change in other income (expense) unfavorably affected

1998 pre-tax income by $6.3 million compared with 1997. This

change mostly occurred during the second half of the year and

resulted primarily from higher goodwill amortization, higher

currency exchange transaction losses and lower equity earnings

from joint venture companies.

Interest expense increased $8.2 million in 1998 compared with

1997, reflecting significantly higher borrowings that were

incurred primarily to finance acquisitions during the year.

As the U.S. dollar strengthens or weakens against other inter-

national currencies in which we transact business, our financial

results will be affected. During 1998, the U.S. dollar strength-

ened and the change in currency exchange rates had an unfa-

vorable effect on net income per share of $.07 for the year

1998 as compared with exchange rates in effect during 1997.

As a result of the factors discussed above, income before

income taxes decreased by $112.3 million for the full year 1998

and by $93.8 million for the second half of 1998 as compared

with the respective periods of 1997. Excluding from 1998 the

litigation gain and special charges, income before income taxes

decreased by $91.6 million, or 40%, for the full year 1998 and

by $56.9 million for the second half of 1998 as compared with

the respective periods of 1997.
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The 1998 effective tax rate on income, before the litigation

gain and special charges, increased to 38% as compared with

33% in 1997. This increase, which lowered 1998 earnings before

these items by $.12 per share, was primarily a result of lower

1998 operating earnings and increased non-tax deductible 1998

translation losses incurred by our foreign subsidiaries using a

U.S. dollar functional currency. Other reasons for the change in

the effective tax rate included shifts in earnings among the

various countries in which we operate and the tax benefits

recognized during the second half of 1997 resulting from

favorable tax law changes enacted by France, the United States

and the United Kingdom. Taking into account the litigation

gain and the fourth quarter special charges, the overall effec-

tive tax rate for 1998 was 40%.

Net income in 1998 was $71.2 million, or $1.27 per share. In

1997, net income was $154.9 million, or $2.68 per share. After

excluding from 1998 the litigation gain and the special charges,

net income in 1998 was $86.5 million, a decrease of 44% from

1997. On this same basis, 1998 net income per share was $1.55,

a decline of 42% from the $2.68 per share earned in 1997.

1997 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In 1997, we made significant progress with each of our strate-

gies to grow our business, improve our cost structure and build

our franchise. During 1997, revenues increased 5% as product

shipments increased 17% over 1996 and our market share

grew. We continued our focus to improve our cost structure as

operating expenses were flat versus 1996, even with signifi-

cantly higher production throughput. Net  income per share in

1997 increased 20%, after excluding from 1996 the gain on

investments. This record performance was achieved despite the

unfavorable effect on earnings of the stronger U.S. dollar.

In 1997, we had then-record revenues of $1.67 billion, an

increase of $76.2 million over 1996. Increased revenues resulted

from a 17% increase in specialty chemical shipment volumes

(contributing a 15% increase in consolidated revenues), partially

offset by a 10% decline in the average selling price. Although

the average selling price stabilized during the second half of

the year, the full-year decline for 1997 was attributable approx-

imately 50% to changing product mix, 30% to unfavorable

currency effects and 20% to lower product pricing. The

unfavorable product mix effect resulted from volume gains in

product lines having lower than the overall average selling

price. On balance, our acquisition/divestiture activity did not

significantly affect 1997 annual revenues as recent acquisitions

offset a prior year disposition. However, acquisitions

contributed one-fourth, or $11.4 million, of the 13% increase

in consolidated revenues for the fourth quarter of 1997 com-

pared with the fourth quarter of 1996.

A primary strategy in 1997 was to grow our business. We had

success building global and regional alliances with targeted

customers and continued actively pursuing additional strategic

relationships with finished lubricant suppliers. As compared

with 1996, sales volume increased throughout the year. Higher

sales volumes were realized in all geographic zones and across a

broad customer base. In 1997, sales volume increased 14% to

North American customers and 18% to international customers,

primarily in Asia-Pacific, Western Europe and Latin America.

The growth in sales volume was derived principally from mar-

ket share gains within established markets rather than overall

industry growth.

Cost of sales reflected the higher sales volume as well as lower

average raw material costs and level manufacturing costs.

Compared with the respective prior year periods, average

material costs, including favorable currency effects and the

impact of less expensive product mix, were 10°A lower in the

first half of 1997, 6% lower in the second half of 1997 and 8%

lower for the year. Our manufacturing costs do not fluctuate

significantly with changes in production volume. The effects of

our ongoing manufacturing rationalization program and other

cost management initiatives have improved manufacturing

efficiency as we are operating fewer manufacturing units at

higher capacity levels. Manufacturing costs, aided by currency

effects, were flat in 1997 compared with 1996, even though

production activity was significantly higher in 1997 and we

resumed pay increases following the salary freeze in effect dur-

ing 1996.
•

Gross profit increased $36.2 million, or 7%, in 1997 compared

with 1996. This improvement in gross profit amount was after

unfavorable currency effects of $20.0 million, which occurred

evenly over the four quarters. Acquisition/divestiture activity

contributed $13.0 million to the increase in gross profit for

1997. Gross profit improved to 32.7% of sales in 1997 compared

with 32.0% in 1996 as manufacturing efficiencies, lower mater-

ial costs and the effect of acquisition/divestiture activities more

than offset the effect of lower average selling price. Gross prof-

it was 31.4% during the second half of 1997 due to sequential-

ly lower average selling price, higher material costs and the

effect of asset impairment losses of $4.4 million principally in

the fourth quarter.
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Selling and administrative expenses increased $12.6 million, or

8%, in 1997 compared with 1996. These expenses, which were

higher in the second half of the year compared with the first

half, increased primarily due to higher patent-related litigation

expenses, the effect of acquisitions, incremental expenses relat-

ed to the implementation of the new enterprise-wide manage-

ment information system and increased variable compensation

as a result of higher earnings.

During 1997, research, testing and development expense (tech-

nology expense) decreased $14.3 million, or 9%, from 1996.

The lower spending level in 1997 was due to the timing of test-

ing programs particularly within the engine oil and gear oil

product lines, greater internalization of testing activity that

reduced outside testing requirements and workforce reduc-

tions. Our technology expense in 1997 included some costs

related to new performance specifications for heavy-duty

engine oils which became effective during 1998 and new per-

formance specifications for passenger car engine oils expected

to become effective during 2000.

As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, in 1997, we

provided $9.4 million for the impairment of long-lived assets.

These charges related to a shutdown of an intermediate manu-

facturing system and the write-off of certain computer equip-

ment and legacy software systems that were disposed of due

to the computer equipment standardization project and the

new enterprise-wide management information system being

implemented.

Primarily as a result of these factors, consolidated revenues

increased $37.7 million more than the increase in total costs

and expenses in 1997.

Interest income in 1997 was lower than in 1996 as proceeds

from the 1996 sale of investments were temporarily invested in

interest-bearing instruments until used in our share repurchase

program. Interest expense in 1997 was level with 1996. The

average daily balance of total debt outstanding during 1997

was $195 million as compared with $188 million in 1996.

We conduct a significant amount of business outside of the

United States and are subject to certain related risks including

currency fluctuations. The U.S. dollar continued to strengthen

during 1997, causing an unfavorable effect on net income of

approximately $10.0 million, or $.17 per share.

As a result of the factors discussed above and after excluding

from 1996 the gain on investments, income before income

taxes increased 17%, or $33.8 million, from 1996. We adjusted

our tax provision in the third quarter of 1997 to reflect a legis-

lated increase in the statutory tax rate applicable to our earn-

ings in France, where we have significant operations. This

adjustment resulted in an effective tax rate ot 33.0% for the

full year 1997 as compared with 31.5% in 1996, after excluding

the 1996 gain on investments on which a 35% tax rate applied.

The higher effective tax rate reduced net income by $3.5 mil-
lion, or $.06 per share in 1997.

Net income in 1997 was $154.9 million, or $2.68 per share. In

1996, net income was $169.8 million, or $2.80 per share, which

included investment gains. After excluding from 1996 the non-

recurring gains, net income in 1997 was 15% higher than the

$135.2 million for 1996. On this same basis, net income per

share was 20% higher than the $2.23 per share for 1996,

reflecting our share repurchase program.

RETURN ON AVERAGE SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Return on average shareholders' equity was 16% in 1999 (also

16% excluding the litigation gains and special charges), 9% in

RETURN ON EQUITY (percent)	 1998 (11% excluding the litiga-

tion gain and the special charge)

and 19% in 1997.

WORKING CAPITAL, LIQUIDITY
AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our cash flows for the years 1997

through 1999 are presented in

the consolidated statements of

cash flows. We had strong cash

flow in 1999, as cash provided

from operating activities increased by $133.8 million, or 86%,

over 1998, to a total of $289.0 million. This increase was primar-

ily due to higher earnings, and a $52 million reduction in work-

ing capital in 1999 compared to $45 million growth in working

capital in 1998. The reduction in working capital resulted from

implementation of an initiative to reduce inventory, collection

of a $15 million income tax refund receivable and an increase
in current liabilities.

We have been engaged in a multi-year project to implement a

global enterprise-wide management information system and

standardize the computer equipment among all of our major

facilities. This project supports our strategy to improve our cost

structure by reducing complexity and increasing efficiency and

was a critical component in our "Year 2000" compliance plan

for our business information systems. This system provides

internal access to company information so that resources are

shared and processes are standardized and integrated world-
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wide. We implemented the new enterprise-wide management

information system in the United States during April 1998 and

in Europe during April 1999, and we anticipate completing

implementation in Singapore and Australia in April 2000.

Capital expenditures in 1999 were $64.9 million compared

with $93.4 million in 1998. The reduction in capital spending

was due to decreased expenditures related to our multi-year

project to implement the enterprise-wide management infor-
mation system ($7.6 million in

CASH PROVIDED FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (millions) 	 1999 as compared to $17.6 mil-
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made six acquisitions for cash of

$155.4 million and one acquisi-

tion for 89,806 of our common shares valued at $2.4 million.

These acquisitions were in the areas of lubricant additives,

metalworking additives and coating additives and broaden our

base in performance chemicals.

We maintained an active share repurchase program for a num-

ber of years, but suspended repurchases at the end of 1998

because net debt as a percent of capitalization had reached

our target level of 35% and we wanted to preserve cash and

borrowing capacity to fund potential acquisitions. During 1998,

we repurchased approximately 2.6 million common shares, or

4.6% of our common shares outstanding at the beginning of

1998, for $80 million. Because of our strong cash flow in 1999

and the completion of only one small acquisition during the

year, our net debt as a percent of capitalization decreased to

25% at year-end. As a result, we resumed share repurchases

late in the year. We repurchased approximately 140,000 com-

mon shares for $4.2 million in 1999, and we anticipate spend-

ing an aggregate of $20 million for share repurchases through

the end of the first quarter of 2000. Net debt is the total of

short- and long-term debt, reduced by cash and short-term

investments in excess of an assumed operating cash level of $40

million. Capitalization is shareholders' equity plus net debt.

The increase in cash flow from operating activities and the min-

imal amount of share repurchases and acquisition activity

enabled us to reduce our borrowings by $27.9 million during

1999 and to increase our cash and short-term equivalents by

$131.8 million.

Our net borrowings during 1998 totaled $201.7 million. These

borrowings were used primarily to finance $155 million of cash

expended for acquisitions, most of which occurred in the third

quarter, and our share repurchase program. As discussed in

Note 4 to the financial statements, we replaced a significant

portion of outstanding commercial paper borrowings by issu-
ing $200 million of long-term

debt in November 1998. We

incurred debt issuance costs of

$10.5 million in 1998, including a

$6.5 million loss related to a

hedge against changes in inter-

est rates relative to the anticipat-

ed issuance of this debt. Debt

increased during 1997 primarily

to finance several acquisitions and

the increase in working capital.

Our financial position remains

strong with a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of

2.5:1 at both December 31, 1999 and 1998. Effective July 1,

1998, we increased our committed revolving credit facilities

from $75 million to $300 million. One-half of the aggregate

amount•of these facilities expired on June 30, 1999, and the

remainder expires on June 30, 2003. We did not renew the

$150 million in facilities that expired on June 30, 1999, because

the November 1998 issuance of $200 million in long-term notes

reduced our expected financing requirements. he remaining

$150 million in facilities, which were unused at December 31,

1999, permit us to borrow at or below the U.S. prime rate. We

believe that our existing credit facilities, internally generated

funds and ability to obtain additional financing, if desired, will

be sufficient to meet our future capital needs.
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YEAR 2000 MATTERS

We developed a global Year 2000 strategy covering each of our

facilities designed to minimize Year 2000 disruptions to our

computer-based systems, including business information sys-

tems and process control, testing and laboratory equipment

and embedded systems. Our Year 2000 compliance strategy

incorporated the conversion of most of our business informa-

tion systems from mainframe systems to compliant, client/

server systems. Much of this conversion was part of our imple-

mentation of our global enterprise-wide management infor-

mation system. We have not incurred any adverse impact on

our operations because of Year 2000 factors, including any

inability or difficulty of our suppliers or customers to operate in

the Year 2000. We do not anticipate any adverse impact on our

2000 financial results due to Year 2000 issues.

Through December 31, 1999, we had spent approximately $76.6

million related to the implementation of our global enterprise-

wide management information system, of which approximate-

ly $53.6 million was capitalized and $23.0 million expensed. We

estimate additional costs in 2000 of approximately $1.5 million

to continue implementing this system. In addition, we spent

approximately $6.3 million for Year 2000 remedial activities not

addressed by the global enterprise-wide management informa-
tion system, including $4.3 million in 1999.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT FOR "SAFE HARBOR" PURPOSES
UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT
OF 1995

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi-

tion and Results of Operations and the letter -To Our Share-

holders" from W. G. Bares, Chairman, President and Chief

Executive Officer of Lubrizol, contain forward-looking state-

ments within the meaning of the federal securities laws. As a

general matter, forward-looking statements are those focused

upon future plans, objectives or performance as opposed to

historical items and include statements of anticipated events

or trends and expectations and beliefs relating to matters not

historical in nature. Such forward-looking statements are sub-

ject to uncertainties and factors relating to our operations

and business environment, all of which are difficult to predict

and many of which are beyond our control. Such uncertainties

and factors could cause our actual results to differ materially

from those matters expressed in or implied by such forward-
looking statements.

We believe that the following factors, among others, could

affect our future performance and cause our actual results t6

differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-

looking statements made in this annual report:

• the overall demand for lubricant additives on a worldwide

basis, which has a slow growth rate in mature markets such

as North America and Europe;

• the effect on our business resulting from economic uncertain-

ty within the Asia-Pacific and Latin American regions;

• the lubricant additive demand in developing regions such as

China and India, geographic areas which are an announced
focus of our activities;

• technology developments that affect longer-term trends for

lubricant additives, such as: improved engine design, fuel

economy, longer oil drain intervals, alternative fuel powered
engines and emission system compatibility;

• our success at continuing to develop proprietary technology

to meet or exceed new industry performance standards and
individual customer expectations;

• the frequency of change in industry performance standards,

which affects the level and timing of our technology costs,

the product life cycles and the relative quantity of additives
required for new specifications;

• the rate of progress in continuing to reduce complexities and

conversion costs and in modifying our cost structure to main-
tain and enhance our competitiveness;

• our success in strengthening and retaining relationships with

lubricant additive customers, growing sales at targeted

accounts, and expanding geographically;

• the extent to which we are successful in expanding beyond

our core chemicals for transportation businesses and into

new areas for our chemicals for industry businesses;

• our ability to identify, complete and integrate acquisitions for
profitable growth;

• the recoveries, judgments, costs and future impact of legal

proceedings, including those relating to intellectual property

litigation with Exxon Corporation and its affiliates;

• the potential impact of consolidation among lubricant addi-

tive manufacturers and finished lubricant marketers;
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• the relative degree of competitive and customer price pres-

sure on lubricant additives;

• the cost, availability and quality of raw materials, including

petroleum-based products, required for the manufacture of

lubricant additives;

• the effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates upon

our reported results from international operations, together

with non-currency risks of investing in and conducting signifi-

cant operations in foreign countries, including those relating

to political, social, economic and regulatory factors;

• the ability to achieve and timing of cost efficiencies result-

ing from the new enterprise-wide management information

system;

• changes in significant government regulations affecting envi-

ronmental compliance.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

Lubrizol operates manufacturing and blending facilities, labo-

ratories and offices around the world and utilizes fixed and

floating rate debt to finance our global operations. As a result,

we are subject to business risks inherent in non-U.S. activities,

including political and economic uncertainty, import and

export limitations and market risk related to changes in inter-

est rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We believe the

political and economic risks related to our foreign operations

are mitigated due to the stability of the countries in which our

largest foreign operations are located.

In the normal course of business, we use derivative financial

instruments including interest rate swaps and foreign currency

forward exchange contracts to manage our market risks. Addi-

tional information regarding our financial instruments is con-

tained in Notes 4 and 13 to the financial statements. Our objec-

tive in managing our exposure to changes in interest rates is to

limit the impact of such changes on earnings and cash flow and

to lower our overall borrowing costs. Our objective in manag-

ing the exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates

is to reduce volatility on earnings and cash flow associated with

such changes. Our principal currency exposures are in the major

European currencies, the Japanese yen and certain Latin Ameri-

can currencies. We do not hold derivatives for trading purposes.

We measure our market risk, related to our holdings of finan-

cial instruments based on changes in interest rates and foreign

currency rates utilizing a sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity

analysis measures the potential loss in fair values, cash flows

and income before tax based on a hypothetical 10% change

(increase and decrease) in interest and currency exchange rates.

We used current market rates on our debt and derivative port-

folio to perform the sensitivity analysis. Certain items such as

lease contracts, insurance contracts and obligations for pension

and other post-retirement benefits were not included in the

analysis.

Our primary interest rate exposures relate to our cash and

short-term investments, fixed and variable rate debt and inter-

est rate swaps. The calculation of potential loss in fair values is

based on an immediate change in the net present values of our

interest rate-sensitive exposures resulting from a 10% change

in interest rates. The potential loss in cash flows and income

before tax is based on the change in the net interest income/

expense over a one-year period due to an immediate 10%

change in rates. A hypothetical 10% change in interest rates

would have a favorable/unfavorable impact on fair values of

$19.9 million, cash flows of $.5 million and income before tax

of $.5 million.

Our primary currency rate exposures are to foreign denominat-

ed debt, intercompany debt, cash and short-term investments

and foreign currency forward exchange contracts. The calcula-

tion of potential loss in fair values is based on an immediate

change in the U.S. dollar equivalent balances of our currency

exposures due to a 10% shift in exchange rates. The potential

loss in cash flows and income before tax is based on the change

in cash flow and income before tax over a one-year period

resulting from an immediate 10% change in curr.2ncy exchange

rates. A hypothetical 10% change in currency exchange rates

would have a favorable/unfavorable impact on fair values of

$4.5 million, cash flows of $10.5 million and income before tax

of $3.4 million.
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Independent Auditors' Report

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
The Lubrizol Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance

sheets of The Lubrizol Corporation and its subsidiaries as of

December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the related consolidated

statements of income, shareholders equity, and cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Cor-

poration's management. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accept-

ed auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-

ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-

ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting princi-

Deloitte &
Touche LLP

A

pies used and significant estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-

tion. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for

our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Lubri-

zol Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 1999 and

1998, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1999

in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

De-hilVe- "e" 7;27e-'44e

Cleveland, Ohio

February 3, 2000
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Consolidated Statements of Income

(In Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)

Year Ended December 31

1999 1998 1997

Net sales	 	 $1,743,541 $1,614,558 $1,669,251

Royalties and other revenues 	 4,462 3,361 4,531

Total revenues	 	 1,748,003 1,617,919 1,673,782

Cost of sales	 	 1,194,945 1,133,327 1,123,602

Selling and administrative expenses 	 181,292 179,759 171,244

Research, testing and development expenses 	 145,927 150,980 146,678

Total cost and expenses 	 1,522,164 1,464,066 1,441,524

Special charges 	 (19,569) (36,892)

Gain from litigation settlements 	 17,626 16,201

Other income (expense)—net 	 (6,704) (1,152) 5,104

Interest income 	 7,854 5,780 4,588

Interest expense 	 (29,696) (18,976) (10,803)

Income before income taxes 	 195,350 118,814 231,147

Provision for income taxes 	 72,358 47,614 76,278

Net income 	 $	 122,992 $	 71,200 $	 154,869

Net income per share 	 $2.25 $1.27 $2.68

Net income per share, diluted 	 $2.25 $1.27 $2.66

Dividends per share 	 $1.04 $1.04 $1.01

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.

•
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands of Dollars)

December 31

1999 1998;

ASSETS

Cash and short-term investments 	 $	 185,465 $	 53,639

Receivables	 	 301,256 301,644

Inventories 	 258,149 277,612

Other current assets 	 35,572 54,575

Total current assets 	 780,442 687,470

Property and equipment - at cost 	 1,598,264 1,608,500

Less accumulated depreciation 	 927,752 889,650

Property and equipment-net 	 670,512 718,850

Goodwill and intangible assets - net	 	 149,779 166,957

Investments in non-consolidated companies 	 30,441 26,490

Other assets 	 51,180 43,470

TOTAL 	 $1,682,354 $1,643,237

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt 	 $	 37,584 $	 38,926

Accounts payable 	 138,841 112,832

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 	 	 134,875 118,270

Total current liabilities	 	 311,300 270,028

Long-term debt 	 365,372 390,394

Postretirement health care obligation 	 108,717 106,641

Noncurrent liabilities	 	 45,054 48,950

Deferred income taxes 	 61,787 58,106

Total liabilities 	 892,230 874,119

Contingencies and commitments

Preferred stock without par value - unissued

Common shares without par value - outstanding 54,477,292 shares in 1999 and

54,548,110 shares in 1998	 	 85,984 84,651

Retained earnings 	 758,090 709,994

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 	 (53,950) (25,527)

Total shareholders' equity 	 790,124 769,118

TOTAL 	 $1,682,354 $1,643,237

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

1

(In Thousands of Dollars)

Year Ended December 31

1999 1998 1997

CASH PROVIDED FROM (USED FOR):

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income 	 $ 122,992 $	 71,200 $ 154,869

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 	 99,720 88,047 87,217

Deferred income taxes 	 1,312 5,732 8,585

Special charges and asset impairments 	 	 19,569 36,892 9,360

Change in current assets and liabilities net

of acquisitions and dispositions:

Receivables 	 (10,749) 3,870 (47,313)

Inventories	 	 13,500 9,839 (16,919)

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities 28,408 (41,749) 46,524

Other current assets 	 19,052 (17,012) 4,101

Change in noncurrent liabilities	 	 370 5,357 (169)

Other items - net 	 (5,153) (6,985) (11,889)

Total operating activities 	 289,021 155,191 234,366

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from sale of investments 	 3,500 12,117

Capital expenditures	 	 (64,872) (93,421) (100,700)

Acquisitions and investments in nonconsolidated companies 	 (1,923) (155,418) (23,636)

Other - net 	 2,246 749 5,164

Total investing activities	 	 (64,549) (244,590) (107,055)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Short-term borrowing (repayment) 	 (8,404) 4,175 • 26,772

Long-term borrowing	 	 5,000 203,059 5,572

Long-term repayment 	 (24,447) (5,515) (4,159)

Debt issuance costs 	 (10,523)

Dividends paid	 	 (56,757) (58,256) (58,469)

Common shares purchased, net of options exercised 	 (2,625) (76,542) (63,391)

Total financing activities 	 	 (87,233) 56,398 (93,675)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 	 (5,413) 136 (2,205)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments 	 131,826 (32,865) 31,431

Cash and short-term investments at the beginning of year 	 53,639 86,504 55,073

Cash and short-term investments at the end of year 	 $ 185,465 $	 53,639 $	 86,504

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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The Lubrizol Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

(Dollars in Thousands)

Number of
Shares

Outstanding

Shareholders' Equity

Common
Shares

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Income (Loss) Total

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1996 	 58,522,676 $ 78,534 $744,310 $ (3,468) $819,376

Comprehensive income:

Net income 1997 	 154,869 154,869

Other comprehensive loss 	 (36,937) (36,937)

Comprehensive income 	 117,932

Cash dividends 	 (58,469) (58,469)

Common shares - treasury:

Shares purchased 	 (1,812,841) (2,538) (67,526) (70,064)

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 	 257,059 6,673 6,673

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1997 	 56,966,894 82,669 773,184 (40,405) 815,448

Comprehensive income:

Net income 1998 	 71,200 71,200

Other comprehensive income 	 	 14,878 14,878

Comprehensive income 	 86,078

Cash dividends 	 (58,256) (58,256)

Common shares issued for subsidiary acquisition 	 89,806 2,390 2,390

Common shares -treasury:

Shares purchased 	 (2,621,173) (3,944) (76,134) (80,078)

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 	 112,583 3,536 3,536

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1998 	 54,548,110 84,651 709,994 (25,527) 769,118

Comprehensive income:

Net income 1999 	 122,992 122,992

Other comprehensive loss 	 (28,423) (28,423)

Comprehensive income 	 94,569

Cash dividends 	 (70,938)* (70,938)

Common shares - treasury:

Shares purchased 	 (139,600) (220) (3,958) (4,178)

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 	 68,782 1,553 1,553

BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1999 	 54,477,292 $ 85,984 $758,090 $(53,950) $790,124

* Includes dividends declared and unpaid at December 31, 1999.

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes To Financial Statements
(In Thousands of Dollars Unless Otherwise Indicated)

NOTE 1 — NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Lubrizol Corporation is a fluid technology company con-

centrating on high performance chemicals, systems and ser-

vices for transportation and industry. The company develops,

produces and sells specialty additive packages and related

equipment used in transportation and industrial finished

lubricants. The company's products are created through the

application of advanced chemical and mechanical technolo-

gies to enhance the performance, quality and value of the

products in which they are used. The company groups its

product lines into two operating segments: chemicals for

transportation and chemicals for industry. Chemicals for

transportation comprise approximately 83% of the company's

consolidated revenues and 87% of segment pre-tax operating

profit in 1999, respectively. Refer to Note 12 for a further

description of the nature of the company's operations, the

product lines within chemicals for transportation and chemi-

cals for industry and related financial disclosures.

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CONSOLIDATION — The consolidated financial statements

include the accounts of The Lubrizol Corporation and its sub-

sidiaries where ownership is greater than 50% and the com-

pany has effective controlling financial interest. For noncon-

solidated companies (affiliates), the equity method of

accounting is used when ownership, unless temporary,

exceeds 20% and when the company has the ability to exer-

cise significant influence over the policies of the investee. The

book value of investments carried at equity was $29.7 million

and $25.8 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Investments carried at cost were $.7 million at December 31,

1999 and 1998.

ESTIMATES — The preparation of consolidated financial state-

ments in conformity with generally accepted accounting prin-

ciples requires management to make estimates and assump-

tions pending completion of related events. These estimates

and assumptions affect the amounts reported at the date of

the consolidated financial statements for assets, liabilities,

revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingencies.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

CASH EQUIVALENTS —The company generally invests any of its

excess cash in short-term investments with various banks and

financial institutions. Short-term investments are cash equiva-

lents, as they are part of the cash management activities of

the company and are comprised primarily of investments hav-

ing maturities of three months or less when purchased.

INVENTORIES — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or

market value. Cost of inventories is determined by either first-

in, first-out (FIFO) method or moving average method, except

in the United States for chemical inventories, which are pri-

marily valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT — Property and equipment are car-

ried at cost. Repair and maintenance costs are charged against

income while renewals and betterments are capitalized as

additions to the related assets. Costs incurred for computer

software developed or obtained for internal use are capitalized

for application development activities and immediately

expensed for preliminary project activities or post-implementa-

tion activities. Accelerated depreciation methods are used in

computing depreciation on certain machinery and equipment,

which comprise approximately 21% of the depreciable assets.

The remaining assets are depreciated using the straight-line

method. The estimated useful lives are 10 to 40 years for build-

ings and land improvements and range from 3 to 20 years for

machinery and equipment.

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS — Intangibles resulting

from business acquisitions including costs in excess of net assets

of businesses acquired (goodwill), purchased technology and

trademarks are being amortized on a straight-line method over

periods ranging from 5 to 25 years. The recoverability of good-

will and intangible assets is evaluated at the business unit level

by analysis of operating results and consideration of other sig-

nificant events or changes in the business environment. If a

business unit has operating losses and based upon projections

there is a likelihood that such operating losses will continue,

the company will evaluate whether impairment exists on the

basis of undiscounted expected future cash flows from opera-

tions before interest for the remaining amortization period.

RESEARCH, TESTING AND DEVELOPMENT — Research, testing

and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and

development expenses, excluding testing, were $78.3 million in

1999 and 1998, and $88.4 million in 1997.

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES — The company accrues for

expenses associated with environmental remediation obliga-

tions when such expenses are probable and reasonably

estimable. Such accruals are adjusted as further information

develops or circumstances change. Costs of future expenditures

for environmental remediation obligations are not discounted

to their present value. The Company's environmental reserves

totaled $7.4 million and $7.9 million at December 31, 1999 and

1998, respectively. Of these amounts, $1.0 million was included

in other current liabilities at December 31, 1999 and 1998.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION — The assets and liabilities

of certain of the company's international subsidiaries are trans-

lated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance

sheet date, and revenues and expenses are translated at

weighted average exchange rates in effect during the period.

Unrealized translation adjustments are recorded as a compo-

nent of other comprehensive income in shareholders' equity,

except for subsidiaries for which the functional currency is the
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Notes continued

U.S. dollar, where translation adjustments are realized in

income. Transaction gains or losses that arise from exchange

rate changes on transactions denominated in a currency other

than the functional currency, except those transactions that

function as a hedge of an identifiable foreign currency commit-

ment or as a hedge of a foreign currency investment, are

included in income as incurred.

SHARE REPURCHASES - The company utilizes the par value

method of accounting for its treasury shares. Under this

method, the cost to reacquire shares in excess of paid-in capital

related to those shares is charged against retained earnings.

REVENUE RECOGNITION - Substantially all revenues are recog-

nized at the time of shipment of products to customers with

appropriate provision for uncollectible accounts.

PER SHARE AMOUNTS - Net income per share is computed by

dividing net income by average common shares outstanding

during the period. Net income per diluted share includes the

dilution effect resulting from outstanding stock options and

stock awards. Per share amounts are computed as follows:

1999 1998 1997

Numerator:

Net income available to

common shareholders 	 $122,992 $ 71,200 $154,869

Denominator:

Weighted average common

shares outstanding 	 54,577 55,939 57,843

Dilutive effect of stock

options and awards 	 139 183 386

Denominator for net income

per share, diluted 	 54,716 56,122 58,229

Net income per share 	 $2.25 $1.27 $2.68

Net income per share,

diluted 	 $2.25 $1.27 $2.66

ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS - In June 1998,

the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued State-

ment of Financial Standards (SFAS) 133, "Accounting for Deriva-

tive Instruments and Hedging Activities," which was to become

effective for the company no later than January 1, 2000. In

June 1999, the FASB delayed the required effective date for

SFAS 133, which delayed the required effective date for the

company until January 1, 2001. SFAS 133 establishes accounting

and reporting standards for derivative instruments and for

hedging activities. It requires that all derivatives be measured

at fair value and recognized as either assets or liabilities in the

balance sheet. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a

derivative (that is, gains or losses) depends on the intended use

of the derivative and its resulting hedge designation. The com-

pany uses derivative financial instruments only to manage well-

defined foreign currency and interest rate risks. The company

does not use derivative financial instruments for trading pur-

poses. The company is currently evaluating the requirements of

SEAS 133 but has not yet determined the impact on its financial

position and results of operations when adopted.

NOTE 3 - INVENTORIES z

1999 1998

Finished products	 	 $118,135 $112,060

Products in process	 	 56,855 66,485

Raw materials	 	 66,102 80,134

Supplies and engine test parts 	 17,057 18,933

$258,149 $277,612

Inventories on the LIFO method were 28% and 27% of consoli-

dated inventories at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

The current replacement cost of these inventories exceeded the

LIFO cost at December 31, 1999 and 1998, by $42.7 million and

$41.1 million, respectively.

NOTE 4 - SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT

1999 1998

Long-term debt consists of:

5.875% notes, due 2008 	 $200,000 $200,000

7.25% debentures, due 2025 	 100,000 100,000

Debt supported by long-term

banking arrangements:

Commercial paper at weighted

average rates of 6.6% and 5.6% 	 50,000 50,000

6.5% Marine terminal refunding

revenue bonds, due 2000 	 18,375 18,375

Term loans:

Dollar denominated,
at 5.0% due 2000 	 4,160 4,204

Yen denominated, at 1.6% to 2.8%,

due 2000-2003 	 19,766 18,656

Deutsche mark denominated,
4.1% to 6.0% 	 19,648

French franc denominated, at 3.5%
to 5.0%, due 2000-2008 	 495 645

392,796 411,528

Less current portion 	 (27,424) (21,134)

$365,372 $390,394

Short-term debt consists of:

Commercial paper at weighted
average rate of 5.6% 	 $	 5,300

Other short-term debt at weighted
average rates of 2.6% and 2.8% 	 $	 10,160 12,492

Current portion of iong-term debt 	 27,424 21,134

$ 37,584 $ 38,926

In November 1998, the company issued notes having an aggre-

gate principal amount of $200 million. The notes are unsecured,

senior obligations of the company that mature on December 1,
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2008, and bear interest at 5.875% per annum, payable semi-

annually on June 1 and December 1 of each year. The notes

have no sinking fund requirement but are redeemable, in

whole or in part, at the option of the company. The company

incurred debt issuance costs aggregating $10.5 million, includ-

ing a loss of $6.5 million related to closed Treasury rate lock

agreements originally entered into as a hedge against changes

in interest rates relative to the anticipated issuance of these

notes. Debt issuance costs are deferred and then amortized as

a component of interest expense over the term of the notes.

Including debt issuance costs, these notes have an effective

annualized interest rate of 6.6% to the company.

The company issued debentures in June 1995 having an aggre-

gate principal amount of $100 million. These debentures are

unsecured, senior obligations of the company that mature on

June 15, 2025, and bear interest at an annualized rate of 7.25%,

payable semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each

year. The debentures are not redeemable prior to maturity and

are not subject to any sinking fund requirements.

Effective July 1, 1999, the company decreased its committed

revolving credit facilities from $300 million to $150 million.

These credit facilities expire on June 30, 2003, subject to annual

extension provisions. These facilities, which were unused at

December 31, 1999, permit the company to borrow at or below

the U.S. prime rate. These facilities also permit the company to

refinance beyond one year $150 million of debt, which by its

terms is due within one year. As permitted by these and pre-

viously existing credit facilities, the company classified as

long-term at each balance sheet date the portion of commer-

cial paper borrowings expected to remain outstanding through-

out the following year and for December 31, 1998, the amount

due under the Marine Terminal Refunding Revenue Bonds,

whose bondholders have the right to put the bonds back to

the company.

Amounts due on long-term debt are $27.4 million in 2000, $3.6

million in 2001, $1.5 million in 2002, $59.8 million in 2003, $.1

million in 2004 and $300.4 million thereafter.

The company has an interest rate swap agreement that effec-

tively converts variable rate interest payable on $18.4 million of

Marine Terminal Refunding Revenue Bonds due July 1, 2000, to

a fixed rate of 6.5%. The company also has interest rate swap

agreements, which expire in March 2005, that exchange vari-

able rate interest obligations on a notional principal amount of

$50 million for a fixed rate of 7.6% (see Note 13).

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized, amounted to $28.8

million, $18.3 million and $10.9 million during 1999, 1998 and

1997, respectively. The company capitalizes interest on qualify-

ing capital projects. The amount of interest capitalized during

1999, 1998 and 1997 amounted to $.1 million, $1.2 million and

$2.1 million, respectively.

NOTE 5 - OTHER BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

Receivables: 1999 1998

Customers 	 $273,054 $269,264

Affiliates 	 9,013 8,976

Other 	 19,189 23,404

$301,256 $301,644

Receivables are net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4.1

million in 1999 and 52.2 million in 1998.

Property and Equipment - at cost: 1999 1998

Land and improvements 	 $	 105,984 $	 107,712

Buildings and improvements 	 305,505 299,024

Machinery and equipment 	 1,145,936 1,145,471

Construction in progress 	 40,839 56,293

$1,598,264 $1,608,500

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment was

$88.3 million in 1999, $79.7 million in 1998 and $82.7 million

in 1997.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets: 1999 1998

Goodwill 	 $151,492 $157,380

Intangible assets 	 34,411 34,271

185,903 191,651

Less accumulated amortization 	 36,124 24,694

$149,779 $166,957

Accrued Expenses and Other

Current Liabilities: 1999 1998

Employee compensation 	 $ 48,441 $ 36,094

Income taxes 	 25,890 16,910

Taxes other than income 	 22,081 20,675

Special charges and acquisition

assimilation costs 	 11,526 18,738

Other 	 26,937 25,853

$134,875 $118,270

Noncurrent Liabilities: 1999 1998

Employee benefits 	 $30,000 $33,976

Other 	 15,054 14,974

$45,054 $48,950

NOTE 6 - SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The company has 147 million authorized shares consisting of

2 million shares of serial preferred stock, 25 million shares of

serial preference shares and 120 million common shares, each

of which is without par value. Common shares outstanding

exclude common shares held in treasury of 31,718,602 and

31,648,000 at December 31, 1999 and 1998 respectively.

The company has a shareholder rights plan under which one

right to buy one-half common share has been distributed for
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Notes continued

each common share held. The rights may become exercisable

under certain circumstances involving actual or potential acqui-

sitions of 20% or more of the common shares by a person or

affiliated persons who acquire such stock without complying

with the requirements of the company's articles of incorpora-

tion. The rights would entitle shareholders, other than such

person or affiliated persons, to purchase common shares of the

company or of certain acquiring persons at 50% of then cur-

rent market value. At the option of the directors, the rights

may be exchanged for common shares, and may be redeemed

in cash, securities or other consideration. The rights will expire

in 2007 unless redeemed earlier.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) shown in the

consolidated statements of shareholders' equity at December

31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 is comprised of the following, net of

tax effects:

1999 1998 1997

Foreign currency translation

adjustments 	 $(27,923) $14,840 $(36,941)

Pension plan minimum

liability 	 (838)

Income tax benefit 	 338 38 4

$(28,423) $14,878 $(36,937)

NOTE 7 - OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) - NET

1999 1998 1997

Equity earnings of

nonconsolidated
companies 	 $	 5,735 $ 2,602 $ 4,804

Amortization of goodwill

and intangible assets 	 (11,430) (7,512) (3,764)

Currency exchange/

transaction gain (loss) 	 	 (3,108) (1,260) 2,398

Other - net 	 2,099 5,018 1,666

$ (6,704) $(1,152) $ 5,104

NOTE 8 - INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes is based upon income before

tax for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax conse-

quences of temporary differences between the tax bases of

assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial

reporting purposes. In estimating future tax consequences, the

company considers anticipated future events, except changes

in tax laws or rates, which are recognized when enacted.

Income before income taxes consists of the following:

1999 1998 1997

United States 	 $113,904 $ 78,305 $154,589

Foreign 	 81,446 40,509 76,558

Total 	 $195,350 $118,814 $231,147

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

1999 1998 1997

Current:

United States 	 $46,983 $16,649 $35,556

Foreign 	 24,063 25,233 32,137

71,046 41,882 67,693

Deferred:

United States 	 (3,467) 3,385 8,784

Foreign 	 4,779 2,347 (199)

1,312 5,732 8,585

Total 	 $72,358 $47,614 $76,278

The United States tax provision includes the U.S. tax on foreign

income distributed to the company. The portion of the tax

provision for taxes outside the United States includes withhold-

ing taxes.

The differences between the provision for income taxes at the

U.S. statutory rate and the tax shown in the consolidated state-

ments of income are summarized as follows:

1999 1998 1997

Tax at statutory rate of 35% 	 $68,373 $41,585 $80,901

State and local taxes 	 2,815 2,261 2,683

Foreign sales corporation

earnings	 	 (1,923) (3,152) (4,704)

Equity income 	 (875) (859) (2,775)

Foreign deferred tax

valuation allowance 	 (3,904) 4,878 (60)

Other foreign tax differences . 3,954 5,995 3,523

Other - net 	 3,918 (3,094) (3,290)

Provision for income taxes 	 $72,358 $47,614 $76,278

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to signif-

icant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities at Decem-

ber 31 are as follows:

1999 1998

Deferred tax assets:

Accrued compensation and benefits 	 $ 48,858 $ 48,178

Intercompany profit in inventory 	 11,322 11,131

Net operating losses carried forward 	 12,305 18,284

Other 	 8,665 8,574

Total gross deferred tax assets 	 81,150 86,167

Less valuation allowance 	 5,153 9,057

Net deferred tax assets 	 75,997 77,110

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and other

basis differences 	 99,938 101,658

Undistributed foreign equity income 	 5,566 3,894

Inventory basis differences 	 1,497 3,706

Other 	 3,977 2,986

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 	 110,978 112,244

Net deferred tax liabilities 	 $(34,981) $(35,134)
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At December 31, 1999, certain foreign subsidiaries have net

operating loss carryforwards of $37.8 million for income tax

purposes, of which $5.9 million expire in years 2000 through

2009 and $31.9 million has no expiration. After evaluating tax

planning strategies and historical and projected profitability, a

valuation allowance has been recognized to reduce the

deferred tax assets related to those carryforwards to the

amount expected to be realized. The net change in the total

valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 1999,

1998 and 1997, was a decrease of $3.9 million, an increase of

$4.9 million and a decrease of $.1 million, respectively.

U.S. income taxes or foreign withholding taxes are not provid-

ed on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are

considered to be indefinitely reinvested in the operations of

such subsidiaries. The amount of such earnings was approxi-

mately $411.5 million at December 31, 1999. Determination of

the net amount of unrecognized U.S. income tax with respect

to these earnings is not practicable.

Income taxes paid during 1999, 1998 and 1997 amounted to

$59.1 million, $52.0 million and $53.0 million, respectively.

NOTE 9 — PENSION, PROFIT SHARING AND OTHER
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The company has noncontributory defined benefit pension

plans covering most employees. Pension benefits under these

plans are based on years of service and the employee's com-

pensation. The company's funding policy in the United States is

to contribute amounts to satisfy the Internal Revenue Service

funding standards and elsewhere to fund amounts in accor-

dance with local regulations. Several of the company's defined

benefit plans are not funded. Plan assets are invested principally

in marketable equity securities and fixed income instruments.

The company also provides certain non-pension postretirement

benefits, primarily health care and life insurance benefits, for

retired employees. Substantially all of the company's full-time

employees in the U.S. become eligible for these benefits after

attaining specified years of service and age 55 at retirement.

Participants contribute a portion of the cost of such benefits.

The company's non-pension postretirement benefit plans are

not funded.

Net periodic pension cost of the company's defined benefit

pension plans consists of:

1999 1998 1997

Service cost — benefits earned

during period 	 $ 11,843 $ 11,142 $ 10,269

Interest cost on projected
benefit obligation 	 17,589 17,519 17,704

Expected return on plan assets (25,873) (23,818) (21,976)

Amortization of prior

service costs 	 1,771 1,718 1,827

Amortization of initial net

(asset) obligation 	 (1,264) (753) (1,295)

Recognized net actuarial

(gain) loss	 	 507 (381) (127)

Settlement (gain) 	 (5,474)

Net periodic pension cost 	 $ 	 (901) $	 5,427 $	 6,402

The company also has defined contribution plans, principally

involving profit sharing plans and a 401(k) savings plan, cover-

ing most employees in the United States and at certain non-

U.S. subsidiaries. Expense for all defined contribution retire-

ment plans was $9.0 million in 1999, $8.1 million in 1998 and

$9.9 million in 1997.

As discussed in Note 15, the company initiated a cost reduction

program and recognized special termination benefits of $11.6

million in 1999, $3.1 million and $8.5 million of which were

included in the special charges recognized in the first and third

quarters of 1999, respectively. The company also recognized a

settlement gain of $10.0 million in the fourth quarter of 1999

in the United States, $4.5 million of which was recorded as an

adjustment to the special charge and $5.5 million recorded as a

reduction in net periodic pension cost. The company also rec-

ognized special termination benefits of $18.3 million in 1998,

which were included in the special charge recognized in the

fourth quarter of 1998.

Net non-pension postretirement benefit cost consists of:

1999 1998 1997

Service cost — benefits earned

during period 	 $ 1,468 $ 1,250 $ 1,465

Interest cost on accumulated

benefit obligation 	 4,728 4,415 4,989

Amortization of prior

service costs	 	 (3,218) (3,218) (3,218)

Recognized net actuarial

(gain) loss	 	 23 (252)

Net non-pension postretire-

ment benefits cost 	 $ 3,001 $ 2,195 $ 3,236
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The change in benefit obligation, change in plan assets of the company's defined benefit pension and non-pension postretirement

plans and the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31 are as follows:

Pension Plans

1999 1998

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 	 $297,483 $254,263

Service cost 	 11,843 11,142

Interest cost	 	 17,589 17,519

Plan participants' contributions 	 48

Actuarial (gain) loss 	 (23,048) 27,096

Currency exchange rate change 	 (1,104) 2,834

Amendments 	 647 709

Curtailments 	 (632) (195)

Settlements 	 (3,325)

Special termination benefits 	 1,691 4,684

Other 	 857

Benefits paid 	 (37,172) (20,569)

Benefit obligation at end of year 	 264,877 297,483

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 	 300,573 298,130

Actual return on plan assets 	 54,984 16,786

Employer contributions 	 6,510 4,719

Plan participants' contributions 	 48

Currency exchange rate change 	 (1,003) 896

Other 	 594

Benefits paid	 	 (37,172) (19,958)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 	 324,534 300,573

Plan assets greater (less) than the benefit obligation 	 59,657 3,090

Unrecognized net loss (gain) 	 (52,315) (7,981)

Unrecognized net transition obligation (asset)	 	 (3,853) (5,571)

Unrecognized prior service cost 	 8,472 9,785

Net amount recognized 	 $	 11,961 $	 (677)

Amount recognized in the statement of financial position consists of:

Prepaid benefit cost 	 $ 26,027 $	 15,885

Accrued benefit liability 	 	 (16,211) (20,120)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 	 838

Intangible asset	 	 1,307 3,558

Net amount recognized 	 $	 11,961 $	 (677)

Other Benefits

1999 1998

$	 72,047 $	 61,46.0'

1,468 1,250

4,728 4,415

(4,281) 8,352

49 (80)

(2,511) (3,350)

71,500 72,047

2,511 3,350

(2,511) (3,350)

(71,500) (72,047)

(5,521) (1,225)

(27,402) (30,620)

$(104,423) $(103,892)

$(104,423) $(103,892)

$(104,423) $(103,892)

The weighted average assumptions as of December 31:

Discount rate for determining funded status 	

Expected return on plan assets 	

Rate of compensation increase 	

The projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets

for pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess

of plan assets were $29.8 million and $10.2 million, respective-

ly, as of December 31, 1999, and $123.1 million and $97.2 mil-

lion, respectively, as of December 31, 1998. The accumulated

Pension Plans Other Benefits
1999 1998 1999 1998

6.91% 6.08% 7.70% 6.71%

8.60% 9.01%

3.94% 3.78%

benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension

plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan

assets were $23.7 million and $9.5 million, respectively, as of

December 31, 1999, and $31.6 million, and $13.9 million, respec-

tively, as of December 31, 1998.
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The weighted average of the assumed health care cost trend

rates used in measuring the accumulated postretirement bene-

fit obligation for the company's postretirement benefit plans at

December 31, 1999, was 6.73%, (7.45% at December 31, 1998),

with subsequent annual decrements to an ultimate trend rate

of 5.00%. The assumed health care cost trend rates have a sig-

nificant effect on the amounts reported for the health care

plan. A one-percentage-point change in the assumed health

care cost trend rate would have the following effects as of and

for the year ended December 31, 1999:

One-Percentage-Point

Increase	 Decrease

Effect on postretirement

benefit obligation 	 	 $12,129
	

$(9,344)

Effect on total service and interest

cost components 	 	 $ 1,363
	

$(1,028)

NOTE 10— LEASES

The company has commitments under operating leases primari-

ly for office space, terminal facilities, land, railroad tank cars

and various computer and office equipment. Rental expense

was $18.5 million in 1999, $18.7 million in 1998 and $13.8 mil-

lion in 1997. Future minimum rental commitments under oper-

ating leases having initial or remaining noncancelable lease

terms exceeding one year are $13.6 million in 2000, $9.0 million

in 2001, $5.0 million in 2002, $3.9 million in 2003, $3.6 million

in 2004 and $13.9 million thereafter.

NOTE 11 — ACQUISITIONS

In 1998, the company completed six acquisitions for cash of

$155.4 million and one acquisition for 89,806 of the company's

common shares valued at $2.4 million. These acquisitions were

in the company's existing business areas of lubricant and fuel

additives, metalworking additives and coating additives and

broaden the company's base in performance chemicals. These

acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method of

accounting.

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in these

acquisitions is as follows:

Inventories 	
	

$ 20,713

Receivables 	
	

26,424

Property and equipment 	
	

8,502

Other tangible assets 	
	

2,986

Goodwill 	
	

97,882

Technology and other intangibles 	
	

16,173

Technology under development 	
	

13,598

Accounts payable and other liabilities assumed 	
	

(28,470)

Fair value of net assets acquired,

less $2,165 of cash received 	
	

$157,808

These acquisitions were made at various times throughout the

year; however, the two largest acquisitions were Adibis, for-

merly the lubricants and fuel additives business of British Petro-

leum Company P.L.C., which was acquired effective August 1,

1998, and Carroll Scientific, Inc., (Carroll), which was acquired

in July 1998. Carroll specializes in the development and supply

of varnish and wax-based performance additives to the ink

market. The aggregate purchase price of these two acquisitions

was $134 million, of which $111 million was assigned to good-

will and intangible assets. During 1997, the annual revenues of

Carroll were approximately $30 million and of Adibis were

approximately $150 million.

The impact of the acquisitions made in 1998 was not material

in relation to the company's results of operations; consequent-

ly, pro forma information is not presented. However, these

acquisitions had the following impact on revenues and expens-

es for 1998:

Revenues 	 	 $71,662

Gross profit 	 	 $15,267

Selling and administration expenses 	 	 $ 7,397

Research, testing and development 	 	 $ 5,591

After-tax loss, excluding write-off of technology under

development and interest on acquisition debt 	 	 $ (1,844)

In the fourth quarter of 1999, the company reduced the pur-

chase price of the Adibis acquisition by $2.5 million for antici-

pated reimbursement from the seller of certain post-acquisition

costs incurred by the company.

The company has substantially completed the process of assimi-

lating the Adibis additives business. The company's assimilation

plan included separation of a number of Adibis employees at

an estimated cost of $3.9 million and terminating certain

Adibis contracts for tolling arrangements, office leases and

sales agents at an estimated cost of $2.7 million. Cash expendi-

tures of $5.7 million were made in 1999 and approximately $.9

million remains as an accrued liability at December 31, 1999.

The cost of these activities was included in the allocation of the

acquisition costs to the net assets acquired.

The company engaged an independent appraiser to provide a

basis for allocating the purchase price of Adibis to the acquired

intangible assets for financial reporting purposes. The appraisal

included the determination of the amount to be assigned to

technology under development which, under purchase

accounting, is written off against income in the period of

acquisition. Technology under development comprises ongoing

research and development projects that may form the basis for

new products or replacements for existing products. The fair
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value assigned to the Adibis technology under development

was determined by the independent appraiser applying the

income approach and a valuation model, incorporating among

other assumptions revenue and expense projections, probabili-

ty of success and present value factors. The resulting value allo-

cated to each of the technology projects under development

represents the product of the present value of debt-free cash

flows and the percent of research and development complet-

ed. The fair value of technology under development was com-

prised of three projects within engine oil additives aggregating

$7.1 million; six projects within fuel additives aggregating $3.4

million; and two projects within marine diesel additives aggre-

gating $3.1 million. The amount of the purchase price allocated

to technology under development was $13.6 million and was

charged against income in the fourth quarter of 1998 upon

completion of the appraisal.

NOTE 12- BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND
GEOGRAPHIC REPORTING

The company aggregates its product lines into two principal

operating segments: chemicals for transportation and chemi-

cals for industry. Chemicals for transportation is comprised

of additives for lubricating engine oils, such as for gasoline,

diesel, marine and stationary gas engines and additive com-

ponents to its larger customers; additives for driveline oils, such

as automatic transmission fluids, gear oils and tractor lubri-

cants; and additives for fuel products and refinery and oil field

chemicals. In addition, the company sells additive components

and viscosity improvers within its lubricant and fuel additives

product lines. The company's chemicals for transportation

product lines are generally produced in shared manufacturing

facilities and sold largely to a common customer base. Chemi-

cals for industry includes industrial additives, such as additives

for hydraulic fluids, metalworking fluids and compressor lubri-

cants; performance chemicals, such as additives for coatings

and inks and process chemicals; and performance systems, com-

prised principally of fluid metering devices and particulate

emission trap devices.

The company's accounting policies for its operating segments

are the same as those described in Note 2. The company evalu-

ates performance and allocates resources based on segment

contribution income, which is revenues less expenses directly

identifiable to the product lines aggregated within each seg-

ment. In addition, the company allocates corporate research,

testing, selling and administrative expenses in arriving at seg-

ment operating profit before tax.

The following table presents a summary of the company's

reportable segments for the years ended December 31:

1999 1998 1997

Chemicals for transportation:

Revenues from external

customers 	 $1,448,978 $1,361,306 $1,446,342

Equity earnings	 	 5,340 2,434 4,540

Goodwill and intangibles

amortization	 	 5,012 2,964 1,239

Segment contribution

income 	 307,411 238,076 322,377

Operating profit before tax 191,654 130,149 213,184

Segment total assets 	 1,116,680 1,191,175 1,076,153

Capital expenditures 	 58,123 90,369 98,482

Depreciation 	 82,129 74,023 76,134

Chemicals for industry:

Revenues from external

customers 	 $	 299,025 $	 256,613 $	 227,440

Equity earnings	 	 395 168 264

Goodwill and intangibles

amortization	 	 6,418 5,414 3,274

Segment contribution

income 	 41,636 33,959 37,302

Operating profit before tax 27,481 22,552 24,178

Segment total assets 	 247,779 256,905 194,492

Capital expenditures 	 6,749 3,052 2,218

Depreciation 	 6,161 5,646 6,570

Reconciliation to consolidated

income before tax:

Segment operating profit

before tax 	 $	 219,135 $	 152,701 $	 237,362

Gain from litigation

settlements 	 17,626 16,201

Special charges 	 (19,569) (36,892)

Interest expense- net 	 (21,842) (13,196) (6,215)

Consolidated income

before tax 	 $	 195,350 $	 118,814 $	 231,147

Revenues from external

customers by product group:

Engine oil additives 	 $	 916,755 $	 844,614 $	 920,971

Driveline oil additives 	 	 408,488 384,880 400,154

Fuel additives and refinery

oil additives	 	 103,271 78,023 69,904

Additive components	 	 20,464 53,789 55,313

Chemicals for

transportation 	 1,448,978 1,361,306 1,446,342

Industrial additives	 	 156,996 149,087 133,200

Performance chemicals 	 108,189 84,478 73,702

Performance systems 	 33,840 23,048 20,538

Chemicals for industry 299,025 256,613 227,440

Total revenues frcm

external customers 	 $1,748,003 $1,617,919 $1,673,782
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Prior-year revenues from external customers by product group

within the chemicals for transportation segment have been

restated to reflect a change in the way the company reports

these revenues for internal management reporting.

Revenues are attributable to countries based on the location of

the customer. The United States is the only country where sales

to external customers comprise in excess of 10% of the compa-

ny's consolidated revenues. Revenues from external customers

by geographic area are as follows:

1999 1998 1997

United States 	 $	 673,579 $	 605,145 $	 602,918

Other North American 	 60,775 50,685 53,030

Europe, Middle East 	 572,854 551,633 539,654

Asia-Pacific	 	 314,715 262,341 315,426

Latin America 	 126,080 148,115 162,754

Total revenues from

external customers 	 $1,748,003 $1,617,919 $1,673,782

The company's sales and receivables are concentrated in the

oil and chemical industries. The company's lubricant and fuel

additive customers consist primarily of oil refiners and indepen-

dent oil blenders and are located in more than 100 countries.

The ten largest customers, most of which are international oil

companies and a number of which are groups of affiliated enti-

ties, comprised approximately 46% of consolidated sales

in 1999, 42% of consolidated sales in 1998 and 44% of consoli-

dated sales in 1997. The company's largest single customer,

including its affiliated entities, accounted for revenues of $210.4

million in 1999, predominately within chemicals for transporta-

tion segment, less than 10% in 1998 and revenues of $161.2

million in 1997, predominately within chemicals for transporta-

tion segment.

The table below presents a reconciliation of segment total assets

to consolidated total assets for the years ended December 31:

1999 1998 1997

Total segment assets 	 $1,364,459 $1,448,080 $1,270,645

Corporate assets 	 317,895 195,157 191,647

Total consolidated assets 	 $1,682,354 $1,643,237 $1,462,292

Segment assets include receivables, inventories and long-lived

assets including goodwill and intangible assets. Corporate

assets include cash and short-term investments, investments

accounted for on the cost basis and other current and noncur-

rent assets.

The company's principal long-lived assets are located in the fol-

lowing countries at December 31:

1999 _1998

United States 	 $519,050 $554,983

France 	 91,413 109,990

England	 	 124,138 134,127

All other 	 85,690 86,707

Total long-lived assets $820,291 $885,807

Net income of non-U.S. subsidiaries was $53 million in 1999,

$13 million in 1998 and $43 million in 1997; and dividends

received from these subsidiaries were $22 million, $15 million

and $7 million, respectively.

NOTE 13 — FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company has various financial instruments, including cash

and short-term investments, investments in nonconsolidated

companies, foreign currency forward contracts, interest rate

swaps and short- and long-term debt. The company has deter-

mined the estimated fair value of these financial instruments

by using available market information and generally accepted

valuation methodologies. The use of different market assump-

tions or estimation methodologies could have a material effect

on the estimated fair value amounts. The estimated fair value

of the company's debt instruments at December 31, 1999,

approximates $375.5 million compared with the carrying value

of $403.0 million. The company believes the carrying values of

its other financial instruments approximate their fair values,

except for certain interest rate swap agreements discussed

below. The company uses derivative financial instruments only

to manage well-defined foreign currency and interest rate

risks. The company does not use derivative financial instru-

ments for trading purposes.

The company is exposed to the effect of changes in foreign cur-

rency rates on its earnings and cash flow as a result of doing

business internationally. In addition to workisir capital man-

agement, pricing and sourcing, the company selectively uses

foreign currency forward contracts to lessen the potential

effect of currency changes. Such contracts are generally in con-

nection with transactions with maturities of less than one year.
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The maximum amount of foreign currency forward contracts

outstanding at any one time was $18.9 million in 1999, $65.0

million in 1998 and $58.4 million in 1997. At December 31,

1999, the company had short-term forward contracts to sell

currencies at various dates during 2000 for $7.5 million. Real-

ized and unrealized gains or losses on these contracts are

recorded in the statement of income, or in the case of transac-

tions designated as hedges of net foreign investments, in the

foreign currency translation adjustment account in other com-

prehensive income. Additionally, foreign currency forward con-

tract gains and losses on certain future transactions may be

deferred until the future transaction is recorded. There were

no deferred currency losses on foreign exchange contracts at

December 31, 1999.

The company is exposed to market risk from changes in inter-

est rates. The company's policy is to manage interest rate cost

using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. To manage this mix

in a cost-efficient manner, the company may enter into interest

rate swaps, in which the company agrees to exchange, at speci-

fied intervals, the difference between fixed and variable inter-

est amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notion-

al principal amount. The company has entered into interest

rate swap agreements to convert variable rate debt to fixed

rates (see Note 4). Interest payments receivable and payable

under the terms of the interest rate swap agreements are

accrued over the period to which the payment relates and the

net difference is treated as an adjustment of interest expense

related to the underlying liability. Changes in the underlying

market value of the remaining swap payments are recognized

in income when the underlying liability being hedged is extin-

guished or partially extinguished to a level less than the

notional amount of the interest rate swaps. Consequently, mar-

ket value losses of $1.0 million were accrued in 1997 and no

amounts were accrued in 1998 or 1999. The company would

have paid approximately $2.4 million, including accrued inter-

est of $.9 million, if it had terminated these interest rate swap

agreements at December 31, 1999.

NOTE 14— STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

The 1991 Stock Incentive Plan provides for granting of restrict-

ed and unrestricted shares and options to buy common shares

up to an amount equal to 1% of the outstanding common

shares at the beginning of any year, plus any unused amount

from prior years. Options are intended either to qualify as

"incentive stock options" under the Internal Revenue Code or

"non-statutory stock options" not intended to so qualify.

Under the 1991 Plan, options generally become exercisable

50% one year after grant, 75% after two years, 100% after

three years, and expire up to ten years after grant. -Reload

options," which are options to purchase additional shares if a

grantee uses already-owned shares to pay for an option exer-

cise, are granted automatically under the 1991 Plan and may

be granted at the discretion of the administering committee

under the 1985 Employee Stock Option Plan. The 1991 Plan

generally supersedes the 1985 Plan, although options outstand-

ing under the 1985 Plan remain exercisable until the expiration

dates. The option price under the 1985 Plan is the fair market

value of the shares on the date of grant. The option price

under the 1991 Plan is not less than the fair market value of the

shares on the date of grant. Both plans permit or permitted the

granting of stock appreciation rights in connection with the

grant of options. In addition, the 1991 Plan provides to each

outside director of the company an automatic annual grant of

an option to purchase 2,000 common shares, with terms gener-

ally comparable to employee stock options.

Under the 1991 Stock Incentive Plan, the company granted to

certain executive officers 3,000 and 65,000 performance share

stock awards in 1998 and 1997, respectively and none in 1999.

Common shares equal to the number of performance share

stock awards granted will be issued if the market price of the

company's common stock reaches $45 per common share for

ten consecutive trading days or after six years from date of

grant, whichever occurs first. Under certain conditions such as

retirement, a grantee of performance share stock awards may

be issued a pro-rata number of common shares. The market

value of the company's common shares at date of grant of the

performance share stock awards was $38.25 per share in 1998

and $33.75 per share in 1997. The company recognizes com-

pensation expense related to performance share stock awards

ratably over the estimated period of vesting. Compensation

costs recognized for performance share stock awards were $.8

million in 1999 and 1998, and $.5 million in 1997. At December

31, 1999, 67,000 performance share stock awards were out-

standing.

Generally accepted accounting principles encourage the fair-

value based method of accounting for stock compensation

plans, under which the value of stock-based compensation is

estimated at the date of grant using valuation formulas, but

permit the continuance of intrinsic-value accounting. The com-
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pany accounts for its stock compensation plans using the intrin-

sic-value accounting method (measured as the difference

between the exercise price and the market value of the stock

at date of grant). If the fair value method to measure compen-

sation cost for the company's stock compensation plans had

been used, the company's net income would have been

reduced by $2.5 million in 1999, $1.6 million in 1998 and $2.6

million in 1997 with a corresponding reduction in net income

per share of $.05 in 1999, $.03 in 1998 and $.05 in 1997.

Disclosures under the fair value method are estimated using

the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following

weighted-average assumptions for grants of stock options in

the following years:

1999	 1998	 1997

1985 Plan:

Risk-free interest rate 	 	 6.5%	 4.6%	 5.7%

Dividend yield 	 	 3.4%	 4.0%	 2.7%

Volatility 	 	 23%	 21%	 20%

Expected life (years) 	 	 .5	 2.8	 3.1

1991 Plan:

Risk-free interest rate 	 	 6.4%	 4.7%	 5.8%

Dividend yield 	 	 3.4%	 4.0%	 2.7%

Volatility 	 	 24%	 23%	 22%

Expected life (years) 	 	 9.9	 9.5	 9.9

The fair value per share of the performance share stock awards

granted in 1998 and 1997 was $33.94 and $31.80, respectively,

using the following assumptions in 1998 and 1997, respectively:

risk-free interest rate of 4.58% and 5.7%; volatility of 21% and

20%; and an expected life of three years. Dividends do not

accumulate on performance share stock awards.

Information regarding these option plans, excluding the per-

formance share stock awards, follows:

Shares

Weighted-
Average

Exercise

Price

Outstanding, January 1, 1999 	 3,483,316 $32.64

Granted 	 730,516 22.99

Exercised 	 (79,675) 20.31

Forfeited 	 (165,415) 33.98

Outstanding, December 31, 1999 	 3,968,742 $31.06

Options exercisable, December 31, 1999 . 2,993,380 $32.51

Weighted-average fair value of

options granted during the year 	 $ 5.87

Outstanding, January 1, 1998 	 3,212,157 $31.88

Granted 	 410,248 37.69

Exercised 	 (125,463) 29.38

Forfeited 	 (13,626) 31.23

Outstanding, December 31, 1998 	 3,483,316 $32.64

Options exercisable, December 31, 1998 . 2,842,719 $31.97_
Weighted-average fair value of

options granted during the year 	 $7.74

Outstanding, January 1, 1997 	 3,248,113 $30.93

Granted 	 417,561 35.07

Exercised 	 (361,179) 25.85

Forfeited 	 (92,338) 35.88

Outstanding, December 31, 1997 	 	 3,212,157 $31.88

Options exercisable, December 31, 1997 	 2,590,556 $31.67

Weighted-average fair value of

options granted during the year 	 $ 9.37

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding, excluding the performance share stock awards,

at December 31, 1999:

Options Outstanding	 Options Exercisable

Number	 Weighted-Average	 Weighted-	 Number	 Weighted-

Range of	 Outstanding	 Remaining	 Average	 Exercisable	 Average

Exercise Prices	 at 12/31/99	 Contractual Life	 Exercise Price	 at 12/31/99	 Exercise Price

$13 - $19	 	 52,088 .2 Years $16.66 52,088 $16.66

19-	 25 	 553,619 8.9 21.42 25,369 22.94

25-	 31 	 1,286,224 4.3 28.68 1,097,224 28.86

31 -	 38 	 2,016,393 4.8 35.28 1,761,281 35.09

38- 45 	 60,418 1.8 41.63 57,418 41.76

3,968,742 5.1 $31.06 2,993,380 $32.51_
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Notes continued

NOTE 15 - SPECIAL CHARGES AND ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

The company initiated a series of steps to reduce costs and

improve its worldwide operating structure and has been exe-

cuting these steps in two phases over a period of approximate-

ly two years. The first phase, which began in the fourth quarter

of 1998, resulted in the reduction of approximately 7% of the

company's workforce, or 300 employees worldwide. Approxi-

mately 55% of this reduction occurred prior to December 31,

1998, a further 35% occurred in the first quarter of 1999, and

the remainder has been substantially completed by the third

quarter of 1999. Of the 300 employees, approximately 40%

were in the manufacturing area and 60% were in the selling,

administrative, research and testing areas. In addition, the

company permanently removed seven component production

units from service during this first phase.

In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company recognized special

charges of $36.9 million, comprised of $23.3 million related to

the first phase of the company's cost reduction program and

$13.6 million for the write-off of purchased technology under

development resulting from the acquisition of Adibis (see Note

11). After-tax, these charges reduced net income by $25.8 mil-

lion, or by $.47 per share. These special charges related predom-

inately to the company's chemicals for transportation segment.

In the first quarter of 1999, the company recognized an addi-

tional expense of $3.1 million, related to the first phase of its

cost reduction program to reflect a greater amount for sep-

aration benefits, principally in Japan. After-tax, this charge

reduced net income by $2.9 million or $.05 per share. In the

third quarter of 1999, the company recognized special charges

of $20.8 million related to the second phase of the company's

cost reduction program. After-tax, this special charge reduced

net income by $12.9 million, or $.24 per share. In the fourth

quarter of 1999, the company recorded an adjustment of $4.3

million to reduce the special charge related to the first phase

of the company's cost reduction program, principally to reflect

a gain related to the settlement of pension obligations for

work force reductions in the first phase of the company's cost

reduction program (see Note 9). After-tax, this adjustment

increased net income by $2.5 million or $.05 per share.

As adjusted, the first phase of the company's cost reduction

program included workforce reduction cost estimated at $20.0

million and other exit costs estimated at $2.1 million, including

$2.0 million related to asset impairments for production units

to be taken out of service. Cash expenditures of approximately

$5.0 million were made in 1998, and $14.7 million in 1999 relat-

ed to the cost reduction program. Approximately $.4 million

remains as an accrued liability at December 31, 1999, represent-

ing payments that will be made in 2000 relating to employees

separated prior to December 31, 1999.

The second phase of the company's cost reduction program

began in the third quarter of 1999 and involves primarily the

downsizing of the company's Painesville, Ohio, manufacturing

plant. This will result in the additional reduction of approxi-

mately 5% of the company's workforce, or 200 employees, and

the shutdown of 23 of Painesville's 36 production systems.

Through December 31, 1999, the company has shut down 12 of

the 23 targeted production systems and has completed approx-

imately 22% of the workforce reduction.

The second phase of the company's cost reduction program

included workforce reduction cost estimated at $8.5 million

and other exit costs estimated at $12.3 million, including $8.9

million related to asset impairments for production units to be

taken out of service. Cash expenditures of approximately $1.3

million were made in 1999 related to the cost reduction pro-

gram. Approximately $10.6 million remains as an accrued liabil-

ity at December 31, 1999.

In 1997, the company provided $9.4 million for the impairment

of long-lived assets. This included $6.3 million to reduce the

carrying value of certain computer equipment and software

made obsolete prior to expiration of their original estimated

useful lives due to new systems being implemented. Also, dur-

ing the fourth quarter the company decided to utilize a toll

processor, beginning in 1998, rather than to produce an inter-

mediate internally. This decision resulted in the permanent

impairment of certain manufacturing equipment, and a provi-

sion of $3.1 million was recorded to reduce the asset carrying

value to its estimated fair value. Fair value was determined by

estimating the present value of future cash flows. These

impairment losses are reflected in the consolidated statements

of income for the year ended December 31, 1997, as follows:

cost of sales - $4.4 million; research, testing and development

expenses - $.9 million; selling and administrative expenses -

$1.8 million and other income (net) -$2.3 million.

NOTE 16 - LITIGATION

The company previously filed claims against Exxon Corporation

and/or its affiliates relating to various commercial matters,

including alleged infringements by Exxon of certain of the

company's patents.

On March 31, 1999, the company and Exxon Corporation

reached a settlement of all pending intellectual property litiga-

tion between the two companies and their affiliates, except for

litigation pending in Canada. Under the settlement agreement,

Exxon paid the company cash of $16.8 million in April 1999.

After deducting related expenses, this settlement increased

pre-tax income by $14.5 million in 1999.

40



The Lubrizol Corporation

On April 23, 1998, the company reached a settlement with Exxon

of a lawsuit pending in federal court in Ohio and received cash

of $19.0 million. After deducting related expenses, this settle-

ment increased pre-tax income by $16.2 million in 1998.

The company has prevailed in a case brought in Canada against

Exxon's Canadian affiliate, Imperial Oil, Ltd., for infringement

of the company's patent pertaining to dispersants, the largest

additive component used in motor oils. A 1990 trial court ver-

dict in favor of the company regarding the issue of liability was

upheld by the Federal Court of Appeals of Canada in December

1992, and in October 1993, the Supreme Court of Canada dis-

missed Imperial Oil's appeal of the Court of Appeals' decision.

The case has been returned to the trial court for an assessment

of compensation damages, but no date has been set for a

determination of such damages. In October 1994, the trial

court judge determined that Imperial Oil had violated an earli-

er injunction for the manufacture or sale of the dispersant that

is the subject of this case. The determination of penalty dam-

ages, if any, on account of this violation will be made after the

court has determined the compensation damages for patent

infringement. A reasonable estimation of the company's

potential recovery relating to this litigation cannot be made at

this time, and no amounts that may be recovered in the future

have been recorded in the company's financial statements as of

December 31, 1999.

Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31	 June 30	 Sept. 30	 Dec. 31

(In Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)

1999

Net sales 	

Gross profit 	

Net income 	

Net income per share 	

Net income per share, diluted 	

1998

Net sales 	

Gross profit 	

Net income (loss) 	

Net income (loss) per share 	

Net income (loss) per share, diluted 	

In the first quarter of 1999, the company recorded a pre-tax

special charge of $3.1 million ($.05 per share) to reflect an

additional amount for separation benefits, principally in Japan,

under its cost reduction program.

In the first quarter of 1999, the company recorded a pre-tax

gain from litigation settlement of $14.5 million ($.16) share.

In the third quarter of 1999, the company recorded a pre-tax

special charge of $20.8 million ($.24 per share) primarily related

to the restructuring of its Painesville, Ohio, manufacturing plant.

In the fourth quarter of 1999, the company recorded a pre-tax

adjustment of $4.3 million ($.05 per share) to reduce the amount

of the special charge principally to reflect a gain related to the

$446,627 $433,129 $431,978 $431,807

143,453 136,144 136,612 132,387

39,094 30,028 20,412 33,458

$.72 $.55 $.37 5.61

$.72 $.55 $.37 $.61

$399,900 $405,160 $403,262 $406,236

122,865 126,143 120,252 111,971

29,668 39,963 16,614 (15,045)

$.52 $.71 $.30 $(.27)

$.52 $.71 $.30 $(27)

settlement of pension obligations for work force reductions in

the first phase of the company's cost reduction program.

In the fourth quarter of 1999, the company recorded a pre-tax

gain from litigation settlement of $3.1 million ($.04) share.

In the second quarter of 1998, the company recorded a pre-tax

gain from litigation settlement of $16.2 million ($.19 per share).

In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company recorded pre-tax

special charges of $23.3 million ($.30 per share) related to a

cost reduction program and $13.6 million ($.17 per share)

related to the write-off of purchased technology under devel-

opment resulting from the company's acquisition of Adibis.
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Historical Summary

(In Millions, Except Shareholders, Employees and Per Share Data) 1999 1998 1997

OPERATING RESULTS:

Revenues 	 $1,748.0 $1,617.9 $1,673.8

Total cost and expenses	 	 1,522.2 1,464.1 1,441.5

Other income (charges)	 	 (30.5) (35.0) (1.1)

Net income	 	 123.0 71.2 154.9

- Before unusual items and accounting changes 	 125.3 86.5 154.9

Net income per share 	 2.25 1.27 2.68

- Before unusual items and accounting changes 	 2.30 1.55 2.68

FINANCIAL RATIOS:

Gross profit percentage 	 31.5 29.8 32.7

Percent of revenues:

Selling and administrative expenses 	 10.4 11.1 10.2

Research and testing expenses 	 	 8.3 9.3 8.8

Return on average shareholders' equity (%) 	 15.8 9.0 19.0

- Before unusual items and accounting changes (%) 	 16.1 10.9 19.0

Debt to capitalization (%)	 	 33.8 35.8 21.3

Current ratio	 	 2.5 2.5 2.5

OTHER INFORMATION:

Dividends declared per share 	 $	 1.04 $	 1.04 $	 1.01

Average common shares outstanding 	 54.6 55.9 57.8

Capital expenditures 	 $	 64.9 $	 93.4 $	 100.7

Depreciation expense 	 88.3 79.7 82.7

At Year End:

Total assets 	 $1,682.4 $1,643.2 $1,462.3

Total debt 	 403.0 429.3 220.3

Total shareholders' equity	 	 790.1 769.1 815.4

Shareholders' equity per share	 	 14.50 14.10 14.31

Common share price 	 30.88
,

25.69 36.88

Number of shareholders 	 5,126 5,609 5,661

Number of employees 	 4,074 4,324 4,291
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1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 1990 1989

$1,597.6 $1,663.6 $1,599.0 $1,525.5 $1,552.2 $1,476.3 $1,452.7 $1,227.9

1,403.0 1,478.0 1,397.0 1,362.2 1,390.5 1,308.7 1,288.4 1,109.7

56.1 40.0 49.4 (43.6) 15.4 10.5 106.9 19.5

169.8 151.6 175.6 45.6 124.6 123.7 190.0 94.0

135.2 126.6 148.8 113.5 124.6 123.7 133.5 94.0

2.80 2.37 2.67 .67 1.81 1.79 2.67 1.26

2.23 1.98 2.26 1.67 1.81 1.79 1.87 1.26

32.0 31.5 32.7 32.0 31.7 32.4 30.3 29.2

9.9 9.8 10.0 10.4 11.7 11.7 10.9 10.8

10.1 10.8 10.3 11.2 10.0 9.8 8.5 9.2

20.4 18.0 22.5 5.9 15.4 16.2 27.2 14.2

16.2 15.1 19.0 14.6 15.4 16.2 18.0 14.2

19.5 22.5 16.8 8.7 5.6 7.9 8.3 8.5

2.6 2.4 2.5 2.5 2.9 2.7 2.7 3.0

$	 .97 $	 .93 $	 .89 $	 .85 $	 .81 $	 .77 $	 .73 $	 .69

60.7 63.8 65.7 67.7 69.0 69.3 71.1 74.7

$	 94.3 $	 189.3 $	 160.5 $	 127.9 $	 95.8 $	 82.4 $	 77.4 $	 64.7

78.7 71.8 63.9 59.6 58.4 54.6 54.0 48.7

$1,402.1 $1,492.0 $1,394.4 $1,182.6 $1,127.1 $1,171.7 $1,114.6 $	 960.2

198.5 247.1 167.9 69.6 48.4 67.8 66.6 61.2

819.4 849.0 832.0 732.2 819.4 794.5 736.2 663.3

14.00 13.48 12.83 11.00 11.97 11.51 10.61 8.96

31.00 27.75 33.88 34.13 27.25 28.25 23.63 18.75

5,764 6,304 6,494 6,616 6,822 6,767 6,692 7,370

4,358 4,601 4,520 4,613 4,609 5,299 5,169 5,030
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40 Wall Street
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(212) 936-5100 (800) 937-5449

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at the Radisson Hotel

& Conference Center, Eastlake, Ohio, on May 1, 2000.

FORM 10-K

The Form 10-K Annual Report to the Securities and Exchange

Commission will be available March 31, 2000. A copy may be obtained without

charge upon written request to the Secretary of the Corporation or from the

Lubrizol Web site.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The Common Shares of The Lubrizol Corporation are listed on the

New York Stock Exchange under the symbol LZ. The number of shareholders

of record of Common Shares was 5,025 as of February 10, 2000.

Investors and shareholders may purchase shares of stock through

The Lubrizol Corporation Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase

and Sale Plan. To participate in the Plan, contact our transfer agent, American

Stock Transfer & Trust Company, Dividend Reinvestment Department,

at 1-877-573-3998 (toll free) or on the Internet at www.investpower.com .

INTERNET WEB SITE

Company and investor information is available at the Internet Web

site: http://wvvw.lubrizol.com .

Leslie M. Reynolds
Assistant Secretary
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